University of Wisconsin Milwaukee UWM Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations

August 2021

# Behavioral and Neural Correlates of Episodic Memory Regulation

Mrinmayi Kulkarni University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.uwm.edu/etd

Part of the Cognitive Psychology Commons, and the Neuroscience and Neurobiology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Kulkarni, Mrinmayi, "Behavioral and Neural Correlates of Episodic Memory Regulation" (2021). *Theses and Dissertations*. 2684. https://dc.uwm.edu/etd/2684

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by UWM Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UWM Digital Commons. For more information, please contact scholarlycommunicationteam-group@uwm.edu.

### BEHAVIORAL AND NEURAL CORRELATES OF

### EPISODIC MEMORY REGULATION

by

Mrinmayi Kulkarni

A Dissertation Submitted in

Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Psychology

at

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

August 2021

#### ABSTRACT

### BEHAVIORAL AND NEURAL CORRELATES OF EPISODIC MEMORY REGULATION

by

Mrinmayi Kulkarni

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 2021 Under the Supervision of Professor Deborah E. Hannula

Episodic memory retrieval, while critical for daily living, needs to be regulated to maintain goaldirected behavior. Past work has shown that episodic memory regulation engages brain regions involved in cognitive control, such as the dorsolateral and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex. These regions interact with the medial temporal lobe structures to control retrieval processes. In the current study, I paired eye-tracking, a sensitive index of memory, with fMRI in a novel paradigm to address several open questions in the field of episodic memory regulation. Participants initially encoded three celebrity faces and three tools with multiple indoor and outdoor scenes. In a subsequent retrieval and search phase, participants were presented with scene cues and were instructed to either retrieve the associate of the scene, suppress it, or substitute it with one of the other encoded objects. After a delay, a search display consisting of the six encoded objects, intermixed with six dots was presented, and participants completed a simple visual search task with the dots. Incidental viewing directed to the associate of the scene cue was used as a measure of the success of episodic memory regulation. Results revealed that the two strategies of memory regulation tested here – retrieval suppression and thought substitution – led to a decrement in memory performance for pairs in which the associate was a tool. Memory regulation was also linked with reduced viewing of the associate embedded in the search display. Further, retrieval

suppression and thought substitution activated distinct brain regions suggesting that although the two strategies have similar behavioral consequences, they are associated with distinct task demands. Finally, memory regulation affected the neural representation of retrieved memories in the hippocampus. However, the precise direction of this effect was different for faces and tools. Overall, the study yielded novel insights into the precise behavioral and neural substrates involved in two strategies of episodic memory regulation, and the effect of these processes on the representation of retrieved memories in the hippocampus. © Copyright by Mrinmayi Kulkarni, 2021 All Rights Reserved To my grandmother, Mangala Aji,

for being one of my first female role models,

and my loudest cheerleader.

ABSTRACTii LIST OF FIGURESix LIST OF TABLESx								
					LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xi ACKNOWLEDGMENTS xiii			
Episodic Memory and the Medial Temporal Lobe								
Reinstatement of Information during Episodic Memory Retrieval								
Regulation of Episodic Memories								
Strategies Used in Episodic Memory Regulation								
Brain Regions Involved in Episodic Memory Regulation9								
Open Questions in Episodic Memory Regulation11								
Current Work 15								
Method 18								
Participants								
Materials								
Design and Procedure 19								
Screening session								
fMRI testing session								

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Pre-exposure phase (scanned)	20
Hybrid encoding-and-test phase (not scanned)	21
Search phase (scanned)	23
Post-test phase (not scanned)	25
Counterbalancing	28
Eye-tracking Apparatus	28
fMRI Data Acquisition and Preprocessing	29
Data Analysis	30
esults	31
Hybrid Encode-and-test Phase	31
Post-test Recognition Phase	32
Memory Regulation and Search Phase	34
Proportion of Total Viewing	34
Object Prioritization	36
Question 1: Neural Correlates of Self-Directed Thought Substitution	39
Question 2: Neural Correlates of Successful Memory Regulation	53
Question 3: Effect of Memory Regulation on Neural Reinstatement in the MTL	57
Derivation of Representational Templates	57
Trial-by-trial Search Phase Models	57
Computing Pattern Similarity	58
iscussion	64

Eye-movements Are Sensitive to Memory Regulation and May Index Active	
Representations	66
Suppression and Substitution Activate Distinct Regions	68
Activity in Control Regions May be Sensitive to Regulation Success	73
Reactivation of Tool Associates May Lead to Improved Forgetting	74
Limitations and Future Directions	77
Conclusions	79
References	80
Appendix	103
Curriculum Vitae	108

### **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1.	Overview of experimental procedure	7
Figure 2.	Mean accuracy in the hybrid encode-and-test procedure	2
Figure 3.	Performance in the post-test recognition phase	3
Figure 4.	Proportion of total viewing	5
Figure 5.	Viewing-based prioritization	8
Figure 6.	A priori regions of interest	2
Figure 7.	Univariate ROI data	3
Figure 8.	Univariate whole-brain data	8
Figure 9.	Viewing-related modulation in a priori ROIs	5
Figure 10.	Associate reactivation in the medial temporal lobe	0
Figure 11.	Viewing-related modulation of associate reactivation in the hippocampus	1
Figure 12.	Viewing-related modulation of associate reactivation in the perirhinal cortex	2
Figure 13.	Reinstatement in the Substitute condition	3

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Suppress than the Retrieve
condition during the scene cue
Table 2. Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Retrieve than the Suppress
condition during the scene cue
Table 3. Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Substitute than the Retrieve
condition during the scene cue
Table 4. Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Retrieve than the Substitute
condition during the scene cue
Table 5. Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Suppress than the Retrieve
condition in the middle of the delay period
Table 6. Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Retrieve than the Suppress
condition in the middle of the delay period
Table 7. Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Substitute than the Retrieve
condition in the middle of the delay period
Table 8. Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Substitute than the Retrieve
condition in the middle of the delay period53

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACC	Anterior Cingulate Cortex
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
AOI	Area of Interest
BOLD	Blood-Oxygen Level Dependent
dlPFC	Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex
EPI	Echo-planar Imaging
ERP	Event-related Potential
fMRI	Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
FWHM	Full-Width at Half Max
IFG	Inferior Frontal Gyrus
IPL	Intraparietal Sulcus
ITI	Inter-Trial Interval
MCW	Medical College of Wisconsin
MNI	Montreal Neurological Institute
MTL	Medial Temporal Lobe
PFC	Prefrontal Cortex
PrC	Perirhinal Cortex
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
ROI	Region of Interest
RSA	Representational Similarity Analysis
RT	Reaction Time
SPL	Superior Parietal Lobe

SD	Standard Deviation
SMA	Supplementary Motor Area
SFG	Superior Frontal Gyrus
TE	Echo Time
TNT	Think/No-Think
TR	Repetition Time
UWM	University of Wisconsin Milwaukee
vlPFC	Ventrolateral Prefrontal Cortex

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to, first and foremost, thank my advisor, Debbie, for taking a chance on me and for entrusting me with so many interesting and challenging projects in the lab. I am always in awe of your ability to the get to the heart of any problem. I hope that I have imbibed some of your scientific integrity and rigor – even a fraction of it, I'm confident, will carry me through my academic career.

I would also like to thank the Department of Psychology staff. Dr. Lima, Anna, Pat, Nicole and Glenda – thank you for always supporting the graduate students in the department. We all owe an enormous debt of gratitude to you. This work would not have been possible without the incredibly helpful MRI techs at the Medical College of Wisconsin. Thank you to Tina, Amy, Marlys and both Steve's for all your help during scanning, and sorry for making you sit through such a long and tedious experiment!

To Jenna – you've been my friend, philosopher and guide, not just in science, but also in life. You were also the best quarantine buddy I could have asked for! I will be forever grateful for our countless conversations over coffees, wine and margaritas. Thank you also to my Milwaukee family, Carissa, Adam, Allie, Greta, Joshua, Laura and Shahd, for bringing so much light to the long and arduous journey, that is science. You all made Milwaukee feel like home. Special shoutout to all the ladies from CLAMs for being my badass-female-scientist role models!

I wouldn't be anywhere without the unwavering love and support from Aai, Baba and Sai. Thank you for always believing in me, even when I didn't believe in myself. Counterintuitive as it may seem, your constant reassurance that I could drop everything and come back home gave me the strength to persevere through the program. And last but not the least – thank you to Siddhant. You have been my pillar of strength. Thank you for always

xiii

answering my 3am hysterical phone calls, for bringing me back from the brink of burnout more times than I can count, and for always being the voice of reason (and humor) in my life!

This work was supported by a National Science Foundation CAREER award 1349664 to DEH. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundations.

#### **Behavioral and Neural Correlates of Episodic Memory Regulation**

Episodic memory retrieval is critical for daily living. However, not all memories are one's that are worth remembering. Oftentimes cues in the environment can trigger the retrieval of unpleasant or traumatic memories. In such situations, retrieval needs to be curbed or regulated to limit the awareness of such unwelcome memories. This is especially important in the context of mental health disorders such as post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and depression that are associated with recurrent intrusion of unwanted memories (Schlagenhauf et al., 2021; Anderson & Huddleston, 2012). Two strategies of memory regulation have been investigated in the literature – the first one, retrieval suppression, involves pushing retrieved information out of awareness. The second investigated strategy of thought substitution entails calling to mind different information instead of the retrieved memory. Past work has shown that memory regulation can lead to long-term forgetting (Anderson & Green, 2001), reduced vividness of retrieved information (Meyer & Benoit, 2021), and decreased expression of the suppressed memory in later thought (Wang et al., 2015). This process, which involves top-down control of memory retrieval, is associated with increased brain activity in cognitive control regions, and decreased activity in regions involved in memory retrieval.

The current study was designed to build on this work and address three underinvestigated questions in the field of memory regulation. First, I examined the neural correlates of thought substitution under conditions in which participants had some flexibility in terms of the information used for substitution. Second, I investigated brain regions involved in successful memory regulation using an online, incidental measure of regulation. Third, I examined effect of memory regulation on the neural representation of retrieved information. Past work has shown that eye-movements are sensitive to memory. In the current study, eye-tracking was paired with

fMRI in a novel design developed to examine the behavioral and neural correlates retrieval suppression and thought substitution.

#### **Episodic Memory and the Medial Temporal Lobe**

Episodic memory refers to our long-term memory for events. These memories are rich in detail, and consist not only of the individual elements of an event, but also the relations between them. Hence, for successful episodic memory formation discrete elements of an event need to be bound together into a coherent whole (Konkel & Cohen, 2009). For instance, the memory of a friend's birthday party consists of a bound representation of the memory for people encountered at the party, the food served at the party, the spatial layout of the location of the party, and so on. This kind of memory for spatial, temporal and associative relationships between individual elements of an experience is termed relational memory.

It is widely accepted that relational memory depends on structures in the medial temporal lobe (MTL; Cohen & Eichenbaum, 1993). Of the MTL subregions, the hippocampus is especially critical for the binding of discrete elements of an experience into a single representation during encoding, as well as for the retrieval of these elements during test (Ranganath & Ritchey, 2012; Hannula et al., 2013; Ranganath, 2010; Hannula & Ranganath, 2009; Konkel & Cohen, 2009; Davachi, 2006; Tulving, 2002; Cohen & Eichenbaum, 1993). A particularly compelling demonstration of the involvement of the hippocampus in relational memory came from a neuropsychological study by Konkel et al. (2008). In their study, patients with hippocampal amnesia completed a task which tested item and relational memory using the same set of materials. Here, in an initial study phase, patients and age-matched controls were presented with sets of three objects that appeared sequentially in different spatial locations on the screen. In a subsequent test phase, participants' memory for individual items was tested. In addition, they were also tested on their memory for the associations between the objects in a set (associative relations), the objects and their spatial locations (spatial relations), or the order of presentation of objects in the study phase (temporal relations). They found that compared to agematched controls, patients with damage that was largely limited to the hippocampus were disproportionately impaired at all tests measuring relational memory, whereas their memory for individual items was relatively spared. In contrast, patients with extensive medial temporal lobe lesions were impaired on tests of relational as well as item memory. Further evidence for the involvement of the hippocampus in relational memory comes from several fMRI studies that demonstrated that the hippocampus is selectively recruited during encoding (Prince et al., 2005; Davachi et al., 2003) and retrieval (Giovanello et al, 2009; Giovanello et al., 2004; Prince et al., 2005) for tasks involving relational memory (see Olsen et al., 2012; Konkel & Cohen, 2009; Cohen et al., 1999 for reviews).

#### **Reinstatement of Information during Episodic Memory Retrieval**

It has been suggested that the hippocampus supports memory retrieval through the reinstatement of encoded information (Norman & O'Reilly, 2003; McClelland et al., 1995). According to this account, the presentation of a contextual cue triggers pattern completion processes in the hippocampus and surrounding MTL areas. This, in turn, leads to the reactivation of encoded information in the hippocampus as well as other cortical areas that are involved in the processing of sensory information. As mentioned above, previous fMRI studies have found evidence for the involvement of the hippocampus in memory retrieval (Giovanello et al., 2009; 2004; Prince et al., 2005). However, in these studies hippocampal recruitment is measured simply as an *increase* in the activity of the hippocampus during a retrieval task. As a result, from this data no inferences can be made about whether specific representations are activated in this

this region to support retrieval. Recent advances in fMRI analyses, however, have permitted us to directly test the reinstatement hypothesis. These analysis techniques use multivariate approaches to capitalize on the distributed pattern of activity across the brain, allowing us to decode representational *content* from brain activity (Xue, 2018; Levy & Wagner, 2013; Kriegeskorte et al., 2008; Norman et al., 2006). In one such technique called Representational Similarity Analysis (RSA), a "representational template" corresponding to encoded information (e.g., each encoded object) or the encoding episode (e.g., elements experienced in the context of an encoding trial) is obtained for each individual participant (Dimsdale-Zucker & Ranganath, 2018). Reinstatement of the encoded object and/or context during retrieval is then quantified as the similarity (or correlation) between retrieval-related brain activity and the representational template of the object or encoding episode, respectively.

fMRI studies have employed this technique to measure reinstatement in the hippocampus during retrieval (Liang & Preston, 2017; Tompary et al., 2016; Wing et al., 2015; Staresina et al., 2012). Early studies showed this effect using encoding-retrieval similarity, where reinstatement is measured as the correlation in the pattern of activity in a specific brain region (e.g., the hippocampus) between encoding and retrieval episodes. In one such study, participants initially encoded several cue-associate pairs of pictures of objects (e.g., bottle-clover, teapot-clover, guitar-lobster, hammer-lobster), and subsequently attempted to retrieve the associates when presented with cues (Tompary et al., 2016). Critically, across pairs, trial-unique cue objects (e.g., a bottle, teapot, guitar, hammer, cookie etc.) were paired with the same 4 associates (a clover, a baby bottle, a lobster and scissors), permitting the comparison between associatespecific and episode-specific reinstatement at retrieval. During retrieval, cue objects were presented (e.g., bottle), and participants were asked to recall the associates (clover). Tompary et

al. (2016) found that encoding-retrieval similarity in the hippocampus was greater between retrieval trials and the corresponding encoding trials (bottle-clover trial), as compared to other encoding trials involving the same associate (e.g., teapot-clover presentation during encoding). This suggests that retrieval involves the reinstatement of the *specific* episode of encoding, in addition to the general perceptual reinstatement of the encoded object (Dimsdale-Zucker et al., 2018; Tompary et al., 2016; Staresina et al., 2012).

Reinstatement has also been measured by comparing retrieval-related activity with activity patterns corresponding to associates obtained independently of the encoding trials (e.g., Mack & Preston, 2016; Wimber et al., 2015). These studies typically consist of a pre-exposure block, where participants are presented with objects that will subsequently be encoded as parts of pairs. Brain activity from this block is used to derive representational templates associated with each of the objects independent of the encoding episode. Reinstatement during a later retrieval task is measured as the correlation between the brain activity in the retrieval task and the representational template of the retrieved object. The advantage of this approach is that, in contrast to encoding-retrieval similarity, here the pre-exposure and retrieval displays do not share any perceptual information, since none of the materials from the pre-exposure phase are present during retrieval. Hence, pattern similarity in these studies can be better attributed to the reinstatement of an encoded memory representation. Using this method studies have found both category-specific (Mack & Preston, 2016) and item-specific (Mack & Preston, 2016; Wimber et al., 2015) reinstatement in the hippocampus. Further, across participants, the level of pattern similarity is correlated with speed (Mack & Preston, 2016) as well as mean accuracy (Tompary et al., 2016; Kuhl & Chun, 2014) of memory decisions suggesting that the strength of reinstatement in the hippocampus has behavioral consequences.

#### **Regulation of Episodic Memories**

Although the ability to retrieve past experiences is essential for daily living, it may not always be adaptive. We often have the experience where past memories intrude upon our awareness as we try to complete tasks (e.g., recalling an embarrassing memory of spilling coffee while ordering at a café, or recalling a past experience of being mugged in a park when taking a walk through the park). Previous work has demonstrated that information retrieved from long-term memory has the potential to capture attention and disrupt goal-directed behavior (Nickel et al., 2020). In such situations retrieved memories need to be regulated by cognitive control mechanisms to minimize their influence on behavior (Anderson & Huddleston, 2012). In fact, the inability to sufficiently control such retrieved memories is associated with mental-health disorders such as PTSD (Stramaccia et al., 2020; Catarino et al., 2015; Levy & Anderson, 2008) and depression (Göbel & Niessen, 2021; Zhang et al., 2016; Hertel & Gerstle, 2003).

#### **Strategies Used in Episodic Memory Regulation**

Past work has investigated two distinct strategies that can be engaged for the regulation of retrieved memories (Benoit & Anderson, 2012; Hertel & Calcaterra, 2005). First, retrieved memories may be actively *suppressed* (retrieval suppression), for instance, trying *not* to think of the negative experience of being mugged when walking through a park. Second, retrieved memories may be *substituted* with other thoughts following contextual cues (thought substitution), which might entail thinking of a pleasant picnic spent in the park instead of the experience of being mugged.

Retrieval suppression has been quite extensively studied using the Think/No-Think (TNT) paradigm (Anderson & Green, 2001). In this task, participants encode several cue-target word pairs (e.g., ordeal-roach) and are trained to recall the target word when the cue is presented.

In a subsequent TNT phase, participants are required to control the retrieval of targets on a subset of trials. Here, cue words (e.g., ordeal) are presented in either green or red. When the cue is green (think condition), participants are instructed to recall the target word (roach). However, when cues are red (no-think condition), participants are instructed to suppress the memory of the matching word by pushing it out of awareness. Since it is not possible to directly observe awareness, the success of suppression in the TNT phase is measured as the accuracy of recall of the cue-target word pairs in a final test phase. In this part of the experiment, participants are presented with cue words and are instructed to recall the targets. Typically, memory for pairs in the no-think condition is worse than those in the think condition (Noreen & MacLeod, 2013; Waldhauser et al., 2012; Anderson & Green, 2001; for a review see Anderson & Hanslmayr, 2014) suggesting that the act of suppression weakens the memory for the cue-target pair, making it harder to recall the target. Importantly, this effect, termed the total control effect, requires that participants suppress of the act of retrieval. Simply instructing participants to refrain from saying the target word aloud in the no-think condition without any instructions to constrain the retrieval process does not have the same effect on subsequent memory for the cue-target pair (Anderson & Green 2001). In some studies memory for targets in the recall phase is also tested using an independent probe test. Here participants are presented with a semantic category and the initial letter of the target word, and are instructed to recall the studied item that fits the semantic category (e.g., insect: r ; recall roach) to assess whether memory for the target word is also impaired when tested with novel probes. Interestingly, mirroring the results from cue-target recall, memory for targets tested with the independent probes is also worse for trials in the nothink condition as compared to the think condition (Murray et al., 2011; Bergström et al., 2009; Anderson & Green, 2001). This suggests that retrieval suppression may inhibit the memory for

the target in a cue-independent manner, rather than simply weakening the memory for association between the cue and target (Wang et al., 2015; Anderson & Huddleston, 2012; Anderson & Green, 2001). In some studies, a subset of the encoded pairs is not used in the TNT phase at all, but is tested in the final memory phase. Memory for these pairs is used as a baseline to control for factors such as memory decay as a result of time passed between the study and test phase (Anderson & Huddleston, 2012). As compared to these baseline items, memory for pairs in the think condition is better, whereas memory for pairs in the no-think condition is worse (Noreen & MacLeod, 2013; Anderson & Green, 2001). Taken together, these results suggest that the intentional suppression of targets in the TNT phase causes forgetting of the targets over and above what is expected as a result of memory decay or passive forgetting.

In addition to retrieval suppression, a modified version of the TNT paradigm has been employed to investigate thought substitution, a second strategy of episodic memory regulation. In these experiments, participants study two lists of cue-target pairs. In both lists, the same cues are used, however they are paired with different targets (e.g., ordeal-roach and ordeal-goblet; Hertel & Calcaterra, 2005; Wimber et al., 2015). In the main TNT phase, in the think condition, as before, participants are presented with cues (e.g., ordeal) and are instructed to recall the targets of the cues from the first encoded list (e.g., roach). However, to study thought substitution, in the no-think condition, participants are instructed to substitute the memory for the target from the first list with target from the second list encoded with the same cue (e.g., goblet). Similar to studies on retrieval suppression, memory for the cue-target pairs from the first list (e.g., ordeal-roach) presented in the no-think condition is worse than memory for the baseline items in the final recall phase (Wimber et al., 2015; Racsmány et al., 2012; Hertel & McDaniel, 2010; Bergström et al., 2009; Joormann et al., 2009; Hertel & Calcaterra, 2005). In fact, in a subset of studies that directly compared retrieval suppression and thought substitution, memory for pairs in the substitute condition was even worse than pairs in the suppress condition (Joorman et al., 2009; Hotta & Kawaguchi, 2009; Hertel & Calcaterra, 2005) suggesting that thought substitution might be more effective in weakening the memory of the original cue-target pair.

#### **Brain Regions Involved in Episodic Memory Regulation**

It has been suggested that regulation of episodic memories involves top-down control of retrieval processes in the hippocampus in the way that response inhibition involves the regulation of motor processes (Bergström et al., 2013; Anderson & Green, 2001; Anderson, 2003). In line with this idea, fMRI studies using the TNT paradigm have demonstrated that retrieval suppression engages the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (dlPFC), ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (vIPFC) and the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC; Castiglione et al., 2019; Benoit et al., 2015; Anderson et al., 2004). These regions overlap with the network involved in response inhibition (Anderson & Weaver, 2009; Simmonds et al., 2008; Menon et al., 2001; Liddle et al., 2001). In addition, retrieval suppression is associated with reduction of activity in the MTL regions including the hippocampus (Paz-Alonso et al., 2013; Benoit et al., 2015; Butler & James, 2010; Anderson et al., 2004). Crucially, PFC activity in this task is negatively correlated with hippocampal activation (Gagnepain et al., 2014; Paz-Alonso et al., 2013), and on a subject-bysubject basis, is predictive of accuracy in the final recall phase such that higher PFC recruitment is associated with worse memory (Benoit & Anderson, 2012; Depue et al., 2007). Taken together these results suggest that regions implicated in cognitive control support top-down suppression of retrieval processes in the hippocampus in a way that has behavioral consequences (Benoit et al., 2015; Benoit & Anderson, 2012; Anderson et al., 2004).

Although the process of thought substitution poses similar cognitive control demands to retrieval suppression, some evidence suggests that the two processes are neurally dissociable. First, electrophysiological studies have shown that retrieval suppression is associated with a reduction of centro-parietal positivity, an ERP (event-related potential) marker of conscious recollection (Wilding & Rugg, 1996; Friedman & Johnson, 2000), and this reduction is predictive of the memory decrement observed for suppressed items (Mecklinger & Jäger, 2009; Hanslmayr et al., 2009). Thought substitution, on the other hand, does not involve a similar reduction of centro-parietal positivity (Bergström et al., 2009). Furthermore, in fMRI studies thought substitution is associated with an *increase* in hippocampal activity (Wimber et al., 2015; Benoit & Anderson, 2012). It has been suggested that these effects reflect the demand of retrieving information to use for substitution (Anderson & Huddleston, 2012). Second, one fMRI study that directly compared retrieval suppression and thought substitution found that while retrieval suppression is associated with increased activity in the right dlPFC, thought substitution selectively recruits the left vIPFC (Benoit & Anderson, 2012). This anatomical dissociation suggests that these two types of episodic memory regulation might involve distinct cognitive processes. For instance, it has been suggested that retrieval suppression represents a special case of a general mechanism of inhibition. This hypothesis is supported by the finding that overlapping regions in the right PFC are recruited across multiple tasks involving inhibition (e.g., motor stopping, retrieval inhibition, emotion regulation; Banich & Depue, 2015; Anderson & Hanslmayr, 2014). In a recent study by Apšvalka et al. (2020), participants completed interleaved blocks of a response inhibition (go/no-go) and retrieval suppression (TNT) task. Apšvalka et al. (2020) found that these tasks were associated with increased activity in a rightlateralized network involving the right prefrontal and inferior parietal cortices. On the other

hand, in the way that thought substitution is tested using the modified TNT paradigm described above, the left PFC involvement has been suggested to reflect the resolution of competition between distinct memory representations (Benoit & Anderson, 2012).

#### **Open Questions in Episodic Memory Regulation**

Although extant work on episodic memory regulation has shed light on the behavioral and neural bases of retrieval suppression and thought substitution, some open questions remain and were addressed in the current study. The first question has to do with the neural correlates of self-directed thought substitution, i.e., what brain regions are recruited when participants choose the memory they use for substitution? As mentioned previously, in the modified version of the TNT paradigm that is used to study thought substitution, participants encode each cue with 2 targets. Then, during the TNT phase in the substitution trials, participants are simply instructed to recall the second of the two targets that was studied with the cue. This design may not capture the realistic process of thought substitution for two reasons. First, in the real world we often *choose* the content for substitution when we attempt to replace retrieved information in our awareness (e.g., choosing to remember a picnic in the park rather than a late-night stroll when attempting to replace the memory of being mugged in the park). Second, as it stands, this task requires participants to resolve competition between two possible associates encoded with the cue, rather than self-generating a thought to use for substitution, a probable, but as yet unexperienced alternative. Hence, it is possible that the involvement of the vIPFC (Wimber et al., 2015; Benoit & Anderson, 2012) in thought substitution reflects the demand of the task to select one of two competing memories (Kuhl & Wagner, 2010; Nee & Jonides, 2009; Badre & Wagner, 2007), rather than the process of thought substitution per se. Hence, in order to identify structures involved specifically in thought substitution, participants may need to be instructed to

self-generate a memory substitute, since this process still requires retrieval (as in previous studies) but is less likely to produce competition.

The second question is about the precise neural substrates of these two control processes – i.e., what are the neural correlates of *successful* memory regulation? There are large individual differences in people's ability to effectively regulate retrieved information, and this ability correlates with individual traits like repressive coping (Hertel & McDaniel, 2010), rumination (Grant et al., 2019; Fawcett et al., 2015) and depressive symptoms (Hertel & Gerstle, 2003). In most previous studies, the control effect in the final recognition phase (i.e., decrement in memory for pairs that were suppressed) is used as an index of the success of memory regulation during the TNT phase. Although after averaging across participants the control effect is demonstrable, the magnitude of this effect is variable (Anderson & Huddleston, 2012). Despite this variability, most studies have not used an online measure of the success of memory regulation. As a result, it is possible that previous studies on the neural basis of episodic memory regulation lose some sensitivity to detect subtle neural differences by averaging across trials in which participants were *supposed to* regulate their memories, without taking into account the relative *success* of doing so.

The small handful of studies that have attempted to investigate the processes involved in successful regulation have found differences in brain activity as a function of how much the memory of the target intruded upon participants' awareness on a trial-by-trial basis based on *subjective reports*. In a study by Benoit et al. (2015) participants were asked to report at the end of every trial in the TNT phase, how often they had thought about the target while the cue was in view. They found that dIPFC activity was greater for trials in which participants reported higher levels of intrusion of the target in the no-think condition. Additionally, connectivity between the

dlPFC and the hippocampus was predictive of the intrusion of the target, such that with repeated suppression attempts, increased coupling of the dlPFC and hippocampus was associated with lower subjective reports of intrusion (Benoit et al., 2015; Levy & Anderson, 2012). These results suggest that brain activity is sensitive to the success of regulating memories. As such, accuracy in the post-test recognition phase may not be a sensitive measure of the idiosyncratic strategies that participants might be employing on a trial-by-trial basis in the TNT phase. Hence, to get a more comprehensive picture of the neural correlates of successful episodic memory regulation, we need a more sensitive, online measure of this process.

Finally, the third question concerns the reinstatement of encoded information, i.e., how does episodic memory regulation affect the representation of retrieved information in the brain? It has been suggested that the act of episodic memory regulation involves the top-down control of retrieval processes in the hippocampus by the PFC. As mentioned previously, some recent studies suggest that retrieval in the hippocampus involves the reinstatement of encoded information (Dimsdale-Zucker et al., 2018; Tompary et al., 2016; Mack & Preston, 2016). It is, however, unclear how the process of episodic memory regulation affects the representation of retrieved information in the hippocampus. There is some evidence to suggest that the act of retrieval suppression modifies the representation of retrieved objects in the brain. In a study by Detre et al. (2013) participants encoded words that were paired with either a scene or a face. Next, they completed a standard TNT block where they were presented with word cues and were instructed to either retrieve or suppress the matching scene or face of the word. Detre et al. (2013) found that in suppress trials, classifier evidence for decoding the category of the matching target (i.e., identifying whether the associate was a face or a scene) from brain activity in the inferotemporal visual cortex (fusiform gyrus and parahippocampal gyrus) was at chance. This

suggests that retrieval suppression may cause the representation of the retrieved information to be dropped from regions involved in the visual processing of these objects. However, this study did not examine whether the same effect is also observed in the hippocampus.

To my knowledge, only one study has directly tested the effect of episodic memory regulation on hippocampal representation of retrieved information, in addition to probing sensory representations in the ventral visual cortex (Wimber et al., 2015). This study employed the modified version of the TNT paradigm described above. Briefly, participants encoded each cue word with two target pictures. The two targets came from two distinct categories out of a possible three categories (a face, a scene or an object). In the TNT phase, participants were presented with cues and were asked to retrieve the first target encoded with the cue. It was assumed that in order to minimize interference from the second associate, it would be suppressed in favor the first associate. Wimber et al. (2015) found that with repeated attempts to retrieve the first associate, the pattern of activity in the ventral visual cortex became more and more dissimilar to the representational template of the second associate. This increase in dissimilarity with the template of the second associate across repeated retrieval of the first associate was correlated with univariate activity in the vIPFC, and was predictive of forgetting on the subsequent recognition memory test. The same effect was not observed in the hippocampus. Patterns of activity in the hippocampus became more similar to the template of the first associate with repeated retrieval of this object. However, contrary to the ventral visual cortex, there was no reduction in pattern similarity with the representational template of the second associate in the hippocampus. Although this study is a compelling demonstration of the claim that cognitive control mechanisms are able to alter the representation of retrieved information in the brain during episodic memory regulation, it is subject to some limitations. Similar to the limitations of

previous studies discussed above, this study did not have a trial-by-trial behavioral measure of the success of suppression of the second associate. Additionally, here participants were not explicitly asked to suppress their memory for the second associate. Rather, it was assumed that in order to resolve the competition from the second associate while retrieving the first, cognitive control mechanisms would be engaged to suppress the second associate. If this is not the case (Maxcey et al., 2019), then the observed reduction in pattern similarity for this item may be a result of the upregulation of the representation of the first associate rather than suppression of the second one. It is possible, then, that reduction of reinstatement in the hippocampus is only evident under explicit instruction to suppress the retrieved information.

#### **Current Work**

In the current study, I plan to address these open questions by combining fMRI with eyetracking. Eye-movements have been shown to be a reliable index of memory (Hannula, 2018; Meister & Buffalo, 2016; Hannula et al., 2012; Hannula et al., 2010; Kumaran & Wagner, 2009). Evidence across several studies shows that viewing behavior is affected by memory for individual items (Ryan et al., 2000; Althoff et al., 1999), and memory for spatial (Ryan et al., 2000), temporal (Ryan & Vilate, 2009) and associative (Hannula et al., 2007; Hannula et al., 2012) relations between items.

In one task that has been used to demonstrate the effect of memory on eye-movements (Hannula et al., 2007), participants initially encode a series of scene-face pairs. During a subsequent test phase, participants are presented with a scene cue that is meant to initiate pattern completion processes and trigger the retrieval of the matching face of the scene. Next, a 3-face display consisting of the matching face along with two equally familiar faces is superimposed on top of the scene. Studies using this task have found that when the 3-face display is presented

participants rapidly allocate disproportionate viewing to the matching face of the scene (Hannula et al., 2007). This effect emerges within 500-750ms of test display onset, and is robust to task instructions. In fact, it has been suggested that this eye-movement-based memory effect is obligatory (Ryan et al., 2007), since it emerges even when conscious recollection fails (Hannula & Ranganath, 2009), when scenes are presented subliminally (Nickel et al., 2015), when participants are asked to conceal their memory for the matching face (Mahoney et al., 2018), and when they are told to ignore the associates and look directly at specific search targets (Nickel et al., 2020).

Importantly for the purposes of this study, results also indicate that these eye-movementbased memory effects are sensitive to hippocampal functioning. Studies in patients with hippocampal amnesia (Hannula et al., 2007) and schizophrenia (Hannula et al., 2010; Williams et al., 2010) have shown that eye-movement-based memory effects (e.g., disproportionate viewing of retrieved items) are either completely absent (hippocampal amnesia) or significantly delayed and attenuated (schizophrenia) in patients as compared to healthy controls. Furthermore, hippocampal activity is predictive of the presence of the eye-movement-based relational memory effect in healthy young adults. In a study by Hannula and Ranganath (2009) participants performed the task described above while undergoing concurrent eye-tracking and fMRI. It was found that activity differences in the hippocampus during presentation of the scene cue predicted the memory-based viewing effect, even when participants' behavioral response was incorrect (i.e., they failed to identify the associate from the three alternatives in the test display). This suggests that eye-movement behavior is a sensitive, online index of retrieval processes that are supported by the hippocampus (Hannula & Ranganath, 2009; Pathman & Ghetti, 2016) and may

be used as an indirect, online measure of memory representations retrieved by the hippocampus when cues are presented.

As mentioned previously, episodic memory regulation alters hippocampal processing. Hence, in the current study I capitalized on the link between viewing behavior and hippocampal activity, and used eye-movement behavior as an online, trial-by-trial index of episodic memory regulation. Participants first encoded a set of three faces and three tools with multiple scenes. In a subsequent memory regulation and search phase, participants were presented with scene cues along with an instruction to either retrieve the encoded associate, suppress it, or substitute that memory representation with one of the encoded objects from the other category (e.g., substitute the memory of a face with a specific tool, and vice versa). After a delay period, a search display was presented in which all six encoded objects (three faces and three tools) were presented intermixed with black dots. Participants performed a visual search task where they were instructed to fixate a specific target dot on each trial. Hence, the encoded objects in the display were irrelevant to the search task that participants were instructed to complete. Incidental viewing directed to those objects was, however, used as a trial-by-trial index of episodic memory retrieval and regulation. It was expected that in trials when participants attempted to retrieve the associate of the scene cue, viewing would be directed disproportionately to the matching object embedded in the search display. On the other hand, in trials where participants attempted to suppress memory for the associate, viewing would be distributed across all objects in the search display. Finally, in trials where participants substituted the memory of the matching object with one of the other encoded objects, disproportionate viewing would be directed to the object that the participant had selected, on that trial, to serve as the substitute.

The proportion of viewing dedicated to the matching object in the search display was used to back-sort trials as a function of successful episodic memory regulation. Additionally, in the thought substitution condition, viewing behavior was used to identify the object that participants had selected as the substitute on a given trial. This permitted us to examine whether the representation of the retrieved object is dropped from the hippocampus in favor of the object used for substitution, on a trial-by-trial basis. With respect to the fMRI data, it was expected that, similar to past studies (Benoit & Anderson, 2012), retrieval suppression and thought substitution would be associated with activity differences in the distinct subregions of the PFC. Further, additional brain activity associated with self-generation of the thought substitute may be observed. It was also expected that activity in regions involved in episodic memory control would be modulated by regulation success, as measured by eye-movement behavior. Finally, I expected that similar to the effects demonstrated in regions involved in sensory processing (Wimber et al., 2015; Detre et al., 2013), memory regulation would be associated with the downregulation of the representation of retrieved information in the hippocampus.

#### Method

#### **Participants**

Thirty right-handed students from the University of Wisconsin Milwaukee (UWM) with normal or corrected-to-normal vision took part in the experiment. Participants were compensated with payment and/or course credit. One participant did not complete all study procedures and was excluded from the analysis. Two additional participants were excluded because of unreliable eye-tracking data (see eye-tracking data analysis section), and one participant was excluded because more than 35% of the TRs were censored (see fMRI preprocessing section). Data from 26 participants was carried forward for analysis (Age: M = 24.04; SD = 3.82; Range: 18-31

years; 13 female). Study procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Medical College of Wisconsin (MCW).

#### Materials

Stimuli in the experiment included 237 colored, indoor and outdoor real-world scenes (e.g., a city street, café, auditorium; 800 x 600 pixels) and six colored objects (three celebrity faces: Barack Obama, Rupert Grint, and Bruno Mars; and three tools: hammer, screwdriver, and scissors). The categories of objects (faces and tools) were chosen to improve our ability to examine between-category differences in brain activity (i.e., faces vs. tools; Haxby, 2012; Norman et al., 2006). Additionally, the individual exemplars were chosen such that, in addition to being easily recognizable, they would be perceptually different from each other. This was done to improve our sensitivity to examine the similarity of brain activity patterns at the level of individual exemplars within a category. Scenes were taken from an existing database (cf. Hannula et al., 2007). Faces and objects were taken from the internet, edited using Adobe Photoshop (Berkeley, CA) to ensure uniform size, and were placed on a solid grey background to match the color of the background used in the experiment (CIE L\*a\*b\*: L=62.46, a=0, b=0). Of the 237 scenes, 18 were used during the practice phase, and 219 were used in the main experiment (three scenes were used in the pre-exposure phase, and the remaining 216 scenes were paired with objects during the encoding phase).

#### **Design and Procedure**

#### Screening session

Prior to scanning, participants completed a screening session at UWM. At the beginning of this session, participants signed a consent form and were screened for MR contraindications and exclusion criteria that would preclude enrollment in the study. If participants were MR-safe and otherwise eligible to continue (they were right-handed, between the ages of 18 and 35, and had normal or corrected-to-normal vision), they were provided with instructions and completed a practice block of the hybrid encoding-and-test, and search phases of the main experiment (see below). Conducting practice prior to MRI scanning permitted me to ensure that participants understood the task and to determine whether reliable eye-tracking data could be collected. Only the subset of participants whose eyes could be reliably tracked were invited to MCW to participate in the fMRI experiment.

#### fMRI testing session

At MCW participants completed four phases: a pre-exposure phase, a hybrid encodingand-test phase, a memory regulation and visual search phase, and a final recognition phase (Figure 1A). In order to limit the amount of time participants spent in the scanner, the hybrid encoding-and-test phase was conducted outside of the scanner, as was the final recognition test. This was meant to minimize head motion and discomfort that might be experienced by participants who are required to stay in the scanner for prolonged periods of time.

#### **Pre-exposure phase (scanned)**

The purpose of this phase was to obtain a "representational template" for each object, *before* it was paired with a scene. This template was used to measure re-activation of each object, following scene cues, during the search phase (see below). In the pre-exposure phase, participants were presented with three out of 219 scenes reserved for the main experiment, as well as the six objects that were subsequently paired with scenes in the encoding phase. Each trial began with the presentation of a face, a tool, or a scene for 1s. This was followed by a 3, 5, or 7 second jittered inter-trial interval (ITI) leading to an average trial duration of 6s. Participants performed a one-back task, i.e., they responded with a button-press while the stimulus was in

view, if the picture in a given trial was an immediate repeat of the one seen in the preceding trial. This task was meant to encourage participants to actively attend to the stimuli when they were presented. Participants completed six blocks of the one-back task during the pre-exposure phase. In each block, the three faces, three tools and three scenes were each presented twice leading to a total of 18 trials per block. Each block had three "targets" (i.e., three immediate repeats), and across blocks each picture served as the target twice. The target trials (i.e., immediate repeats, when button presses were made) were dropped from analyses, resulting in 10 trials per object across runs. A T1-weighted image was acquired at the start of the pre-exposure phase. Each functional run lasted approximately 2 minutes (18 trials x 6s per trial = 108s + 8s of scan at the start and end of each run). Along with time required for participant setup, the pre-exposure phase lasted approximately 45 minutes.

#### *Hybrid encoding-and-test phase (not scanned)*

In this phase of the experiment, participants completed three interleaved blocks of the hybrid encoding-and-test procedure. Each block began with encoding. Participants were presented with a series of scene-object pairs and were instructed to commit them to memory. Each trial began with the presentation of a central fixation cross, followed by a scene (18.5 x 16.3 degrees of visual angle). The scene was in view for 1s after which an object from the set of 6 exemplars (three faces, three tools; 11.2 x 13 degrees of visual angle), was superimposed on top of the scene. In order to encourage deep encoding of the pairs, participants were asked to try and form associations between the scenes and objects (e.g., how likely are you find this person in this place; how might this tool be used in this setting?). The scene-object pair was in view for 4s. In each of the three blocks participants encoded 72 new scene-object pairs (each object was
paired with 12 scenes in a block). In all, 216 pairs were seen (36 pairs per object) across all three of the encoding blocks.

Individual encoding blocks (i.e., 72 scene-object pairs), were immediately followed by a hybrid encoding-and-test procedure, which was used to ensure adequate learning. In each case, memory for the scene-object pairs that were presented in the preceding encoding block was tested, and participants had at least one more opportunity to encode each pair. Here, each trial began with an encoded scene, presented for 1s. The ensuing trial structure depended on the participant's response to this scene cue. If the participant could call to mind the object that had been paired with the scene during the encoding phase, they were instructed to make a buttonpress within 3s of scene cue offset. If this button press was made, a display containing all three encoded faces and all three encoded tools arranged in a horizontal line on the screen was presented after an additional delay of 1s. From this display, the participant selected the associate of the scene cue by making a corresponding button press (i.e., one for leftmost object, six for the rightmost object; see Figure 1C). In order to simplify search for the associate in the 6-object display, the objects were grouped by category (i.e., faces were presented on one side of the screen and tools were presented on the other side). However, to prevent participants from forming an association between specific objects and the response mapping, the position of the category on the side of the screen, and the order of the exemplars within the category was randomized on a trial-by-trial basis. Across trials the associate was roughly equally likely to appear in all six positions in the display. This display was in view until a response was made. Finally, and regardless of response accuracy, the trial ended with the presentation of the originally encoded scene-object pair (1s scene, 4s pair). Participants were instructed to use this opportunity to check their response. If, following the scene cue, the participant did not make a

button press (indicating that they did not remember the associate), the scene-object pair was represented with the same timing parameters used in the initial encoding procedure. Memory for this pair was tested again later in the block. Upon re-test, the participant was not able to opt-out of recognition testing. They were forced to choose the matching object from the 6-object display. At the end of the trial, they were re-exposed to the correct scene-object pair after having made their choice, as above (see Figure 1C). This constraint ensured that participants got no more than two exposures to the scene-object pairs in the hybrid encoding-and-test procedure. In each hybrid encoding-and-test block, all 72 pairs that had been studied in the corresponding encoding block were tested (each object paired with 12 scenes). Across the three blocks, memory for 216 pairs was tested. Each encoding block lasted approximately 7 minutes, and each hybrid encoding-andtest block took between 20 and 25 minutes. Finally, before participants re-entered the scanner to complete the next phase of the experiment, they were given instructions about the search task. In all, this phase of the experiment took approximately 1.5 hours.

## Search phase (scanned)

This was the main experimental phase of the session. Each search task trial began with a black central fixation cross presented for 500ms. Next, an instructional cue (the word "Retrieve", "Suppress" or "Substitute") was presented for 500ms at the center of the screen followed by an encoded scene, presented for 1s. The scene cue was followed by a delay period that lasted 7s, during which a grey fixation cross was presented. The instructional cue preceding the scene indicated to participants what they should do in response to the scene cue and during the delay period after the scene. For trials in the Retrieve condition, participants were instructed to call to mind, and actively maintain the associate of the scene cue throughout the delay period. In the Suppress condition, participants were simply asked to avoid thinking of the associate by pushing

it out of awareness. Previous studies have shown that this instruction is sufficient to encourage participants to suppress the associate (e.g., Anderson & Green, 2001; Hertel & Calceterra, 2005; Benoit & Anderson, 2012). Finally, in the Substitute condition, participants were asked to call to mind a specific object from the opposite category of the associate (i.e., to call to mind one of the encoded tools when the associate was a face and vice versa).

In the last 500ms of the delay, the fixation cross turned black to indicate to the participant that the next phase of the trial was about to begin. The delay period was followed by the presentation of a search display. The search display was an array of the six objects that participants had seen during encoding (three celebrity faces and three tools; 1.6 x 1.9 degrees of visual angle), interleaved with six black dots ( $0.8 \times 0.8$  degrees of visual angle), on the circumference of an imaginary circle centered on the fixation cross and superimposed on a uniform gray background (see Figure 1D). All of the objects were 11.4 degrees from the center of the screen and equidistant from each other. The positions of the faces and tools were randomly rearranged from one trial to the next, but the positions of the black dots remained the same. Participants were instructed to look at the elements in the search display freely. Three seconds after the search display was presented, all of the dots but one disappeared from the screen. This probe display remained in view for 1s and participants were instructed to make a single eye movement to the location of the remaining dot and to fixate it until the trial had ended. Importantly, all six objects were presented in the search display in every trial. However, the primary objective from the participants' perspective was to fixate the lone dot when the others were removed from view; no specific objective related to the objects themselves was discussed. Therefore, viewing patterns to objects in the search display served as an incidental index of memory retrieval and control. One possibility, tested here, is that viewing will be directed

disproportionately to specific objects in the search display based on the preceding instructional manipulation – e.g., to the associate of the scene cue or, perhaps, an object from the opposite category (on substitute trials) – and provide information about what is being actively represented during the delay. Each trial ended with a 6/8/10s ITI (mean = 8s) during which a grey fixation cross was presented. In the last 500ms of the ITI, the fixation cross turned black to prepare participants for the next trial. The average total trial duration was 20s.

Participants completed 9 blocks of the search phase. Each of 9 blocks contained 18 trials (six trials each in the Retrieve, Suppress and Substitute conditions). Across blocks, 162 of 216 encoded pairs were used in the search phase (54 pairs per condition). Each run lasted approximately 7 minutes (18 trials x 20s per trial = 360s + 8 seconds at the start and end of each run). Along with the structural and localizer scans, this phase took 1.5 hours.

#### **Post-test phase (not scanned)**

Finally, in order to examine whether the top-down control of episodic memories weakened memory for the scene-object pairs (Anderson & Huddleston, 2012; Anderson & Green, 2003), in the last phase of the experiment participants completed a self-paced recognition memory test. Here, in each trial, a scene cue was presented for 1s. This was followed by a 6object display similar to the one presented in the hybrid encoding-and-test phase (Figure 1E) from which participants chose the matching object. During this part of the experiment, memory for all of the pairs (162) used in the visual search task was tested, as well as the 54 encoded pairs that were not used in the search phase. These pairs provided a baseline measure of memory performance in the absence of attempted retrieval, suppression, or substitution in the search phase. Recognition accuracy and response times were examined for pairs used in the search phase to determine whether there was any memory enhancement for pairs in the Retrieve condition, and any memory decrement for pairs in the Suppress or Substitute conditions relative to items from the Baseline condition (Noreen & MacLeod, 2013; Anderson & Green, 2001; for a review see Anderson & Huddleston, 2012).

At the end of this phase, participants completed a short post-experimental questionnaire (see Appendix A). This questionnaire which is an extension of the one used in Hertel and Calcaterra (2005), was meant to assess any specific strategies that participants may have used in the Suppress and Substitute conditions, and to get information about whether participants were deliberately directing eye-movements to any specific objects in the search display. This phase lasted approximately 10 minutes.









**Figure 1.** Overview of experimental procedure. **A)** Overview of experimental phases. Phases in red were completed in the fMRI scanner. **B)** Representative pre-exposure trials. **C)** Hybrid encoding-and-test phase. **D)** Illustration of single search trial. The last 500ms of the delay period was an alerting cue where the fixation cross turned black to prepare the participant for the search display. **E)** Representative trial in the post-test phase.

# Counterbalancing

Two hundred and sixteen scenes were assigned to one of four lists (54 scenes per list). Each list contained equal numbers of indoor and outdoor scenes. Each object was randomly paired with nine scenes from each list (36 scenes in all). For a given participant, each list was assigned to one of four conditions (Retrieve, Suppress, Substitute, and Baseline). Across participants lists were rotated across conditions such that for instance, for participant 1, items from list A were tested in the Retrieve condition, list B in the Suppress condition, list C in the substitute condition, and list D in the Baseline condition. For participant 2, the lists were reassigned, so that items from list A were tested in the Suppress condition, list B in the Substitute condition, list C in the Baseline condition, and list D in the Retrieve condition. In this way, across participants, each list was assigned to every condition equally often. During the search phase, across blocks and conditions, the associate was roughly equally likely to appear in each of the six positions in the search display. Additionally, across blocks and conditions, the target dot was equally likely to appear in all six of the possible locations one, two, and three positions away from the associate. Finally, ITIs (6/8/10s) were randomly assigned to trials within a block with the constraint that trials from each condition were roughly equally likely to be paired with each of the three ITI durations.

### **Eye-tracking Apparatus**

Eye position was recorded during fMRI scanning using an MRI-compatible Eyelink 1000 Plus Long-Range Mount eye-tracking system (SR Research LTD, Ontario, Canada). This system has a spatial resolution of 0.01°. Calibration was performed before the start of each run using a 9-point calibration procedure. Experiment Builder and Data Viewer (SR Research LTD, Ontario, Canada) were used to program the experiment and extract eye-tracking data, respectively.

### fMRI Data Acquisition and Preprocessing

Scanning was performed at the Center for Imaging Research at MCW using a GE Healthcare Premier MR750 3T MR System (Milwaukee, WI) and a 48-channel GE head coil. Stimuli were presented on an LCD monitor positioned at the back of the scanner bore and viewed through a mirror mounted on the head coil. Padding was used to minimize head movements during scans. Both scanning phases (pre-exposure and search) began with a 3-plane localizer. Functional imaging data was acquired with a T2\*-weighted multi-band gradient echo planar imaging (EPI) sequence (TR = 2s, TE = 23ms, Flip Angle = 77°, acceleration factor = 3; FOV = 24cm, image matrix = 120 x 120, in-plane resolution 2x2mm). Each volume included 75 sagittal slices, with a slice thickness of 2mm (no interslice gap), resulting in a voxel size of 2 x 2 x 2mm, with whole-brain coverage. Structural T1-weighted images were acquired using a spoiled gradient recalled (SPGR) acquisition sequence (TR = 8.1s, TE = 2.8ms, voxel size = 1mm<sup>3</sup> isotropic, image matrix = 240 x 240, number of axial slices = 188).

Imaging data were preprocessed using AFNI (Cox, 1996) and Freesurfer (Fischl et al., 2002). Anatomical scans were skull-stripped and warped to a standard MNI template using a combination of linear and non-linear transforms in the @SSwarper wrapper script in AFNI. The T1 image was subject to automatic segmentation using Freesurfer. Standard preprocessing steps were used for the functional data. Pre-steady state scans (first four TRs; 8s) of each run were discarded (3dTcat). Data was then slice-time corrected (3dTshift) and motion-corrected by aligning all volumes of the session to the volume that contained the minimum number of outliers (3dvolreg). Volumes with over 0.3mm of frame-to-frame displacement, and volumes in which more than 5% of the voxels were outliers (signal intensity in each volume compared to the mean of the timeseries) were flagged for censoring in all univariate and multivariate analyses. One

participant had 35% censored volumes in the search phase and was excluded from all analyses. In the remaining participants, on average 1.56% of volumes in the pre-exposure phase and 5.55%of volumes from the search phase were censored. Next, data was aligned to the T1 scan (align epi anat.py) using a linear alignment procedure. Finally, functional scans were warped to MNI space using the transforms from the T1 to MNI warp. In order to minimize smoothing by interpolation, the transforms from motion-correction, alignment and normalization were concatenated and applied to functional data in a single step (3dNWarpApply). Scans were visually inspected to ensure correct alignment of the native space EPI with the individual participant's T1 scan, as well as alignment of normalized EPI with the MNI template. Data were smoothed using a 4mm FWHM Gaussian kernel. The 3dBlurInMask tool was used for this purpose to ensure that data from non-brain voxels was not smoothed with brain voxels. Finally, the timeseries within each voxel was scaled to have a mean of 100 so that differences from baseline can be interpreted as percent signal change. Univariate analyses were performed on functional scans in MNI space. However, activity patterns for RSA were extracted from functional scans in participants' native space.

### **Data Analysis**

Details of data analysis for each set of results are reported below. Generally, for all ANOVAs with more than one degree of freedom in the numerator, sphericity violations were tested using Mauchly's test. Where sphericity is violated, Greenhouse-Geisser adjusted degrees of freedom, p-values and epsilons are reported. For the behavioral and eye-tracking results, and for t-tests in the univariate region-of-interest analysis, post-hoc tests were corrected for multiple comparison using FDR correction, unless otherwise specified. Additionally, Cohen's *d* and

partial eta-squared  $(\eta_p^2)$  values are reported as measures of effect size for t-tests and ANOVAs, respectively

#### Results

### Hybrid Encode-and-test Phase

To ensure that there was no difference in learning between conditions prior to the search phase, data from the hybrid encode-and-test phase was examined using a repeated-measures ANOVA with the factors Condition (Retrieve, Suppress, Substitute, Baseline) and Associate Category (Face, Tool). During this phase of the experiment, participants had the option to opt-out of testing the first time a pair was presented. When participants opted-out, the scene-object pair was re-presented and memory for the pair was tested later in the block. First, I examined the percentage of total trials with opt-out responses on the first presentation. There was a main effect of associate category, F(1, 25) = 27.65, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.53$ , but no main effect of Condition and no interaction between Associate Category and Condition,  $F^*s \le 1.02$ ,  $p^*s \ge 0.18$ ,  $\eta_p^2 \le 0.06$ . Pairs where the associate was a tool were repeated more often (M = 20.73%, SD = 19.72, Range = 1.85 - 98.14) than pairs where the associate was a face (M = 15.78%, SD = 17.60, Range = 0.93 - 99.07).

Accuracy in the hybrid encode-and-test phase was significantly above chance (i.e., 16.7% correct) for all conditions and associate categories, one-sample t's  $\ge 22.08$ , p's < 0.001, d's  $\ge$  4.33. Similar to the percentage of repetitions, there was main effect of Associate Category on accuracy, F(1, 25) = 45.61, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.65$ , but no main effect of Condition, and no Associate Category by Condition interaction, F's  $\le 1.92$ , p's  $\ge 0.13$ ,  $\eta_p^2 \le 0.07$ . Accuracy was higher for pairs where the associate was a face (M = 87.57, SD = 9.05, Range = 60.94 - 100), as compared to pairs where the associate was a tool (M = 78.17, SD = 11.62, Range = 51.47 - 100).

Overall, these results suggest that there was no difference in learning between conditions before the search phase.



**Figure 2.** Mean accuracy in the hybrid encode-and-test procedure. Error bars represent SEM. Dashed line represents chance performance.

## **Post-test Recognition Phase**

To examine the effects of retrieval, suppression, and substitution on memory for pairs, reaction time (RT) and accuracy in the post-test recognition phase were examined using repeated-measures ANOVAs with the factors Condition (Retrieve, Suppress, Substitute, Baseline) and Associate Category (Face, Tool). There were significant main effects of Associate Category, F(1, 25) = 44.26, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.64$ , and Condition, F(3, 75) = 5.09, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.17$ , in the RT data, but there was no significant interaction between Associate Category and Condition, F(3, 75) = 1.31, p = 0.28,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.05$ . Participants were slower at responding to tools (M = 1312.44, SD = 625.36) than faces (M = 889.23, SD = 395.63). The main effect of condition was driven by faster responses in the Retrieve condition as compared to the Substitute and

Baseline conditions, t's  $\geq$  3.34, p's < 0.01, d's  $\geq$  0.20. No other pairwise differences were significant,  $t \leq$  2.60, p's  $\geq$  0.09, d's  $\leq$  0.19. (see Figure 3A).



**Figure 3.** Performance in the post-test recognition phase. **A)** Mean reaction time and **B)** accuracy in the post-test recognition phase. Reaction time data is collapsed across faces and tools because there was no significant interaction between Condition and Associate Category. Error bars represent SEM. Dashed line represents chance performance. <sup>+</sup> uncorrected *p*.

Accuracy in the post-test recognition phase was above chance for all conditions and associate categories, t's  $\ge 19.07$ , p's < .001, d's  $\ge 4.33$ . There was a significant main effect of Associate Category, F(1, 25) = 80.77, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.76$ . The main effect of Condition, F(3, 75) = 2.25, p = 0.09,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$ , and the interaction between Associate Category and Condition were trending, F(3, 75) = 2.33, p = 0.08,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.09$ . Uncorrected pairwise post-hoc comparisons indicated that the interaction was driven by lower accuracy in the Suppress relative to the Retrieve, t(25) = 2.25, p = 0.03, d = 0.30, and Baseline conditions, t(25) = 3.10, p = 0.004, d = 0.39, for tools. Additionally, accuracy was lower in the Substitute relative to the Baseline condition, t(25) = 2.15, p = 0.04, d = 0.34, for tools. No pairwise differences between conditions were significant for faces, t's  $\le 1.40$ , p's  $\ge 0.17$ , d's  $\le 0.20$  (see Figure 3B). Data from the post-test recognition phase suggest that regulating associates of the scene cues during the search phase

induced forgetting in the post-test recognition phase when associates were tools but not faces. Furthermore, for both faces as well as tools, participants were faster to respond in the Retrieve condition, relative to all other conditions.

# **Memory Regulation and Search Phase**

During the memory regulation and search phase, participants were presented with scene cues following an instruction to either retrieve the matching object of the scene, suppress it, or substitute the matching object with a specific object from the opposite category as the associate. Following a delay period, participants were presented with a search display consisting of the six encoded objects. However, these objects were irrelevant to the search task that participants were instructed to perform. Incidental viewing directed to these objects during the 3s search display was used an index of retrieval or regulation of the associate of the scene cue. First, trials in which less than 65% of eye-tracking data was available were discarded. Two participants, for whom more than 60% of the trials were flagged as bad, were excluded from all behavioral, eye-tracking and fMRI analyses. For the remaining participants, on average 20.75% of trials were excluded for unreliable eye-tracking data (SD = 17.19, Range = 1.23% - 50%). The percentage of trials excluded did not differ by Condition, F(1.50, 37.50) = 0.31, p = 0.67,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$ ,  $G-G\varepsilon = 0.75$ , or Associate Category, F(1, 25) = 0.86, p = 0.36,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.03$ , and there was no interaction between Condition and Associate Category, F(2, 50) = 2.17, p = 0.13,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$ .

## **Proportion of Total Viewing.**

To examine the effect of memory retrieval and regulation on eye-movement behavior, the search display was divided into eight Areas of Interest (AOI); six AOIs corresponding to the objects in the search display, one center AOI, and one AOI corresponding to the background, including the dots in the search display (see Figure 4A). The proportion of total viewing spent on

each object was calculated by dividing the viewing time (in milliseconds) directed to the object by the total viewing time directed to the entire display. The effects of retrieval, suppression, and substitution on proportion of total viewing directed to the associate of the scene cue were tested using a repeated measures ANOVA with the factors Condition (Retrieve, Suppress, Substitute) and Associate Category (Face, Tool). There was a significant main effect of Associate Category on associate viewing, F(1, 25) = 18.80, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.43$ , as well as a main effect of Condition, F(1.05, 26.23) = 29.25, p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.54$ ,  $G-G\varepsilon = 0.52$ . The interaction between Associate Category and Condition was not significant, F(1.23, 30.81) = 2.55, p = 0.11,  $\eta_p^2 =$ 0.09,  $G-G\varepsilon = 0.62$  (see Figure 4B). Associate viewing in trials where the associate was a face (M= 0.15, SD = 0.07) was higher than trials where the associate was a tool (M = 0.11, SD = 0.05). Regardless of the associate category, associate viewing was highest in the Retrieve (M = 0.23, SD = 0.14), relative to the Suppress (M = 0.09, SD = 0.04) and Substitute conditions (M = 0.08, SD = 0.04), t's  $\geq 5.37$ , p's < 0.001, d's  $\geq 1.27$ . There was no difference in associate viewing between the Suppress and Substitute conditions, t(25) = 1.36, p = 0.55, d = 0.20.



**Figure 4.** Proportion of total viewing **A**) Areas of interest used for the search display. **B**) Proportion of viewing dedicated to the associate embedded in the search display. Error bars represent SEM.

# **Object Prioritization**

In addition to measuring the level of associate viewing, I was interested in how viewingbased prioritization changed as a function of retrieval and regulation on a trial-by-trial basis. For this purpose, a prioritized object was identified on each trial as the object in the search display that garnered the highest amount of viewing. I then calculated the proportion of trials on which this prioritized object was the associate, and the proportion of trials on which it was an object from the opposite category as the associate. ANOVAs were calculated separately for faces and for tools with the factors Condition (Retrieve, Suppress, Substitute) and Object Type (Associate, Opposite Category). Results revealed that for both faces and tools, the main effects of Condition and Object Type, as well as the interaction between Condition and Object Type were significant,  $F's \ge 4.39$ ,  $p's \le 0.01$ ,  $\eta_p^2 \ge 0.15$ . Post-hoc t-tests indicated that for both faces and tools, the associate was the prioritized object more often in the Retrieve condition than the Suppress and Substitute conditions,  $t's \ge 5.50$ ,  $p's \le 0.001$ ,  $d's \le 1.59$ . Additionally, the associate was more often prioritized in the Suppress relative to the Substitute condition, but only when the associate was a face, t(25) = 3.02, p < 0.01, d = 0.56. On the other hand, an object from the opposite category was more often prioritized in the Substitute and the Suppress conditions, relative to the Retrieve condition for both faces and tools, t's  $\leq 4.00$ , p's  $\leq 0.001$ , d's  $\geq 1.17$  (see Figures 5A and 5B).

Contrary to our expectation and participants' instruction, I found that an object from the opposite category was prioritized more often even in the Suppress relative to the Retrieve condition. However, it is possible that even though an opposite category object was prioritized in the Suppress condition, the proportion of total viewing time directed to that object was lower than in the Substitute condition, where participants were explicitly instructed to call to mind a

specific object from the opposite category. To test this possibility, I repeated the above analyses – repeated-measures ANOVA with factors Condition (Retrieve, Suppress, Substitute) and Object Type (Associate, Opposite Category) conducted separately for faces and tools – on the proportion of total viewing time dedicated to the prioritized objects. For both faces and tools the main effects of Condition, and the Condition by Object Type interactions were significant,  $F's \ge 4.22$ , p's < 0.05,  $\eta_p^2 \ge 0.17$ . The main effects for Object Type for faces and tools were trending,  $F's \ge 3.65$ ,  $p's \le 0.07$ ,  $\eta_p^2 \ge 0.15$ . Post-hoc tests revealed that the proportion of viewing to the associate in trials where the associate was prioritized was highest in the Retrieve relative to the Suppress and Substitute conditions,  $t's \le 3.45$ , p's < 0.001,  $d's \ge 0.53$ . For trials where an opposite category object was prioritized, viewing directed to this object was higher in the Substitute relative to the Retrieve condition, but only for tools. Additionally, consistent with expectations, even when an opposite category object was the most viewed object in the display, time spent viewing this object was significantly lower in Suppress than the Substitute condition for both faces and tools,  $t's \le 2.34$ ,  $p's \le 0.05$ ,  $d's \ge 0.31$  (see Figures 5C and 5D).



Figure 5. Viewing-based prioritization. Proportion of trials in which the associate or an object from the opposite category was prioritized for A) faces and B) tools. Proportion of viewing dedicated to the prioritized object when it was the associate or an object from the opposite category for C) faces and D) tools. Error bars represent SEM.

Taken together, these results suggest that eye-movement behavior is affected by memory regulation. The proportion of total viewing time directed to the associate of the scene cue was reduced in both regulation conditions relative to the Retrieve condition, and the associate was prioritized most often in the Retrieve condition. On the other hand, in both the Suppress and Substitute conditions, an object from the opposite category as the associate was prioritized most often. Importantly though, the proportion of total viewing time directed to this opposite category prioritized object was higher in the Substitute relative to the Suppress condition.

#### **Question 1: Neural Correlates of Self-Directed Thought Substitution**

The first goal of the current study was to examine the network involved in self-directed thought substitution. For this purpose, concatenated search runs were subject to a GLM (Friston et al., 1995). Each participant's regression matrix was generated in 3dDeconvolve with the onset of the following events modelled separately for each condition using the BLOCK4 function: The Scene cue period modelled from the onset of the Instruction cue (duration: 1500ms), the middle of the delay period (duration: 4000ms), and the onset of the search display (4000ms). Since the onsets of the instruction, scene cue and delay period occurred in quick succession in the trial, and necessarily followed each other with short, constant inter-stimulus intervals (~500ms) I combined the instruction and scene cue into one event, and modelled the middle of the delay period instead of the onset to have enough statistical power to deconvolve the unique contributions of the different events to the BOLD signal (Liu, 2012; Birn et al., 2002). Hence, the model constructed for this aim consisted of nine regressors (one regressor each for the combined instruction and scene cue (henceforth referred to as scene cue), the middle of the delay period (henceforth referred to as delay), and the search display, separately for the Retrieve, Suppress and Substitute conditions). Additional regressors modelling linear drifts and six demeaned head-motion parameters and their derivatives were included as regressors of no interest. Regression matrices generated through 3dDeconvolve were then used in 3dREMLfit to perform generalized least squares regression. This program estimates the temporal autocorrelation in the timeseries, and provides more stable, less biased t-values of the beta weights that can be used to examine group-level whole brain differences in activation between conditions.

First, I assessed whether regulation-related activity differences following the scene cue were evident in regions of the PFC and parietal cortex that have been implicated in direct suppression and thought substitution reported in past work using the TNT task. Additionally, to examine whether, similar to past studies, retrieval suppression was associated with reduced activity in the hippocampus (Anderson et al., 2004; Benoit & Anderson, 2012), activity differences were also extracted from an anatomical mask of the hippocampus derived from the Glasser et al. (2008) atlas (see Figure 6 for ROI locations). In the TNT task, participants are only presented with a memory cue in each trial of the TNT phase. Hence, scene-cue related activity was examined here because this trial period was most similar to past TNT studies. Contrast estimates from the Suppress > Retrieve and Substitute > Retrieve contrasts maps were extracted from a 5mm sphere centered around MNI coordinates reported in two previous studies (Apšvalka et al., 2020 and Benoit & Anderson, 2012), as well as from the anatomical hippocampal ROI. Here, a positive value indicates that activity was higher in the Suppress or the Substitute condition relative to the Retrieve condition. To test whether activity differences were significantly increased when participants were required to suppress or substitute previously encoded associates, a priori post-hoc tests were conducted using a one-sample t-test comparing these estimates from the Suppress > Retrieve and Substitute > Retrieve contrasts against 0. Additionally, to test whether activity in these ROIs was different across regulation strategies, contrast estimates for the Suppress and Substitute conditions were compared using a pairedsamples t-test.

In four Regions of Interest (ROIs) derived from Apšvalka et al. (2020), namely the dlPFC, vlPFC, Supplementary Motor Area (SMA), and Inferior Parietal Lobe (IPL) in the right hemisphere, activity was significantly higher in the Suppress relative to the Retrieve condition,

 $t's \ge 3.39$ , p's < 0.001,  $d's \ge 0.67$ . Activity differences were also evident for the Substitute condition in the right IPL, t(25) = 3.88, p < 0.001, d = 0.76, but not the PFC ROIs, t's  $\leq 0.98$ , p's  $\geq$  0.34, d's  $\leq$  0.19 (see Figure 7A). The difference between the Suppress and Substitute conditions was also significant in these ROIs,  $t's \ge 2.08$ ,  $p's \le 0.05$ , such that activity in the Suppress condition was greater than the Substitute condition. These results are consistent with the findings in Apšvalka et al. (2020), since these regions were reported to be part of a network involved in domain-general inhibitory control required for stopping retrieval (TNT task) as well as action (go/no-go task). I also tested whether the dissociation reported by Benoit and Anderson (2012) between the right and left PFC supporting suppression and substitution, respectively, was evident in the current study. Consistent with this work, in the right dlPFC, activity was significantly higher only in the Suppress relative to the Retrieve condition, t(25) = 2.99, p < 0.01, d = 0.59, whereas in the left vIPFC, there was a trend towards higher activity in the Substitute relative to the Retrieve condition, t(25) = 1.85, uncorrected p = 0.07, d = 0.36 (see Figure 7B). Activity in the right dlPFC was marginally higher in the Suppress relative to the Substitute condition, t(25) = 1.90, p = 0.07, d = 0.43. There was no difference between conditions in the left vlPFC, t(25) = 0.63, p = 0.53, d = 0.09. In the right and left hippocampus, contrasts estimates were not significantly different from 0, t's  $\leq$  0.74, p's  $\geq$  0.46, d's  $\leq$  0.15, and did not differ between conditions, t's  $\leq 0.36$ , p's  $\geq 0.72$ , d's  $\leq 0.08$ .



**Figure 6.** A priori Regions of Interest. Prefrontal and parietal ROIs from past papers that have used the TNT task, along with anatomical masks of the hippocampus.



**Figure 7.** Univariate ROI data. Activity differences in Suppress and Substitute conditions relative to the Retrieve condition within a priori frontal and parietal ROIs derived from **A**) Apšvalka et al. (2020) and **B**) Benoit & Anderson (2012), and from the **C**) anatomical hippocampal mask. Error bars represent SEM. <sup>+</sup> uncorrected *p*.

In addition to probing these a priori ROIs, I also performed exploratory whole-brain analyses to examine suppression- and substitution-related activity in regions outside these ROIs. Suppress > Retrieve and Substitute > Retrieve contrast maps from the scene cue as well as the delay period were subject to a one-sample t-test using 3dMEMA (Chen et al., 2012). Statistical maps were thresholded at a voxel-wise threshold of p < 0.01 and a cluster threshold of p < 0.05. This corresponded to a cluster extent of 40 voxels as determined using Monte-Carlo simulations in 3dClustSim.

Activity differences during presentation of the scene cue, greater for both the Suppress and Substitute conditions than for the Retrieve condition, were evident in a distributed network including the dorsal and ventral PFC, intraparietal sulcus, superior parietal lobule, and the superior temporal sulcus/angular gyrus. Additionally, scene cue activity was greater in the Retrieve relative to both regulation conditions in the middle cingulate cortex and the thalamus (see Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4 for a list of significant clusters from the scene cue period).

Region	Hemisphere Voxels		Peak Voxel (MNI)			
itegion	Trennsphere	VOXOIS	Х	у	Z	
Supramarginal Gyrus	Right	916	-67	37	41	
Supramarginal Gyrus	Left	319	67	45	37	
	Right	628	-17	-53	33	
Middle Frontal Gyrus	Left	200	35	-55	27	
(BA 46)	Left	175	41	-27	37	
	Left	63	43	-41	35	
Superior Frontal Gyrus	Midline	671	-13	-17	61	
(BA 9)	Midline	46	7	-29	63	
Inferior Frontal Gyrus (BA 44)	Right	383	-55	-29	-9	
Inferior Frontal Gyrus (BA 44)	Left	180	53	-23	-7	
Middle Temporal Gyrus	Right	63	-53	31	-1	
Middle Temporal	Left	53	57	29	-1	
Fusiform Gyrus	Right	46	-19	67	-13	
Orbitofrontal Cortex	Right	42	-49	-51	-5	

**Table 1.** Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Suppress than the Retrieve condition during the scene cue. Voxel wise threshold of p < 0.01, cluster threshold of p < 0.05.

Superior Temporal					
	Right	41	-47	35	-3
Sulcus					

**Table 2.** Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Retrieve than the Suppress condition during the scene cue. Voxel wise threshold of p < 0.01, cluster threshold of p < 0.05.

Region	Hemisphere	Voxels	Pea	Peak Voxel (MNI)		
	monophone	( One is	Х	у	Z	
Middle Cingulate	Midline	131	-1	37	33	
Cortex	withinc	131	-1	57	55	
Thalamus	Midline	81	-3	5	-5	
Precuneus	Midline	42	-13	65	27	

**Table 3.** Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Substitute than the Retrieve condition during the scene cue. Voxel wise threshold of p < 0.01, cluster threshold of p < 0.05.

Region	Hemisphere	Hemisphere Voxels		Peak Voxel (MNI)		
	Temisphere	VOXCIS	Х	У	Z	
PreCG	Left	179	37	-3	65	
MCC	Midline	138	1	-21	39	
IFG (BA 46)	Left	79	43	-27	37	
AnG	Right	62	-63	59	23	
MFG (BA 8)	Right	61	-43	-21	51	
Precuneus	Midline	49	-1	61	43	

Region	Hemisphere	Voyels	Pea	Peak Voxel (MNI)			
Region	Tremisphere	V UACIS	X Y	Z			
Thalamus	Midline	73	-1	9	-9		
Precuneus	Midline	62	-1	37	45		

**Table 4.** Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Retrieve than the Substitute condition during the scene cue. Voxel wise threshold of p < 0.01, cluster threshold of p < 0.05.

In addition to these regions, during the delay period greater activity was observed in the bilateral angular gyrus and the superior frontal gyrus (SFG) for the Suppress and Substitute conditions than the Retrieve condition (see Figure 8A). Interestingly, while there was some degree of overlap in the regions involved in Suppression and Substitution (e.g., SFG, left angular gyrus), I found robust hemispheric differences in the PFC for the two regulation conditions. Activity was lateralized such that the Substitute condition was associated with greater activity in the left PFC, whereas Suppression more strongly activated the right PFC (see Figure 8B for a conjunction map; see Tables 6, 7, 8 and 9 for a list of significant clusters). These findings are consistent with the hemispheric differences observed in Benoit and Anderson (2012).



**Figure 8.** Univariate whole-brain data. Clusters where activity was higher in the Suppress (orange) and Substitute (purple) conditions relative to Retrieve condition. **A)** Suppression and Substitution activated overlapping regions in the left Angular Gyrus and SFG (blue). **B)** Retrieval suppression more strongly activated the right PFC (orange) whereas thought substitution was associated with left PFC activity (purple). Voxel-wise threshold p < 0.01, cluster threshold p < 0.05, 40 voxel cluster extent, overlaid on an MNI brain.

Design	Handanhana	isphere Voyals		Peak Voxel (MNI)			
Region	Hemisphere	voxeis	Х	У	Z		
Middle Frontal	D: 14	955	20	(1	22		
Gyrus (BA 9)	Kight	833	-29	-01	23		
Superior Temporal	Dicht	622	45	22	1		
Sulcus	Kight	022	-43	33	1		
Superior Temporal	Laft	142	63	41	1		
Sulcus	Leit	143	05	41	1		
Supplementary	Midline	477 21	21	11	71		
Motor Area		477	-21	-11	/1		
Inferior Frontal	Dight	.ht 160	55	27	11		
Gyrus (BA 47/45)	Rigitt	402	-55	-37	-11		
Inferior Frontal	Left	310	55	22	11		
Gyrus (BA 47/45)	Lett	510	55	-33	-11		
Inferior Frontal	Pight	102	57	27	23		
Gyrus (BA 44)	Rigitt	102	-57	-27	23		
Middle Temporal	Right	458	-63	59	17		
Gyrus	Right	40	-41	55	3		
Middle Temporal Gyrus	Left	130	51	59	21		

**Table 5.** Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Suppress than the Retrieve condition in the middle of the delay period. Voxel wise threshold of p < 0.01, cluster threshold of p < 0.05.

Middle Occipital	Diaht	122	27	02	22
Gyrus	Kigitt	433	-27	95	23
Fusiform Gyrus	Right	408	-23	87	-19
Fusiform Gyrus	Left	187	29	75	-19
Precuneus	Midline	176	-1	85	35
Precuneus	Midline	74	-7	63	61
Medial Superior Frontal Gyrus	Midline	135	-1	-27	61
	Left	130	1	61	-1
Cerebellum	Left	66	37	65	-21
	Left	42	11	41	-5
Superior Frontal	I eft	92	31	-57	25
Gyrus (BA 9/46)	Leit	)2	51	-37	23
Postcentral Gyrus	Right	82	-43	19	57
V5/MT	Right	66	-53	65	-1
Precentral Gyrus	Right	65	-43	-7	55
Middle Frontal	Left	61	31	-51	35
Gyrus (BA 9)	Left	45	39	-25	35
Superior Temporal	Left	50	59	1	-15
Gyrus	Len	50	57	1	15
Occipital Cortex	Left	47	25	95	23
Occipital Cortex	Right	46	15	99	27
Postcentral Gyrus	Left	41	17	29	61

Dagian	Hamianhara	Voyala	Pea	Peak Voxel (MNI)		
Region	Tremsphere	VOXEIS	х	У	Z	
Middle Cingulate	Midling	64	1	22	27	
Cortex	Midline	04	-1	25	21	
Putamen	Right	53	-27	-11	-7	
Posterior Cingulate	Midline	52	-3	35	27	
Cortex	windlife	52	5	55	21	

**Table 6.** Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Retrieve than the Suppress condition in the middle of the delay period. Voxel wise threshold of p < 0.01, cluster threshold of p < 0.05.

**Table 7.** Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Substitute than the Retrieve condition in the middle of the delay period. Voxel wise threshold of p < 0.01, cluster threshold of p < 0.05.

Degian	Homischene	Hamianhara Vavala		Peak Voxel (MNI)		
Region	nemisphere	voxels	X	у	Z	
Middle Frontal	Left	1895	39	-3	65	
Gyrus (BA 6)	Lett	1075	57	-5	05	
Inferior Frontal	Left	879	37	-63	5	
Gyrus (BA 47)	Left	412	51	-23	-9	
Inferior Frontal	Dicht	165	51	20	11	
Gyrus (BA 45)	Kight	105	-31	-29	-11	
Superior Parietal	Laft	116	20	67	57	
Lobule	Len	440	39	67	57	

Fusiform Gyrus	Right	407	-43	71	-21
	Left	121	53	53	-27
Fusitorm Gyrus	Left	53	59	63	-19
Middle Frontal	D: 14	216	42	20	27
Gyrus (BA 46)	Right	216	-43	-39	37
Inferior Parietal	Left	145	43	53	19
Lobule	Left	40	37	47	39
Inferior Parietal	D: 14	<i></i>	20		6.5
Lobule	Right	22	-39	67	22
D	Midline	138	1	69	43
Precuneus	Midline	48	-1	83	39
Precentral Gyrus	Right	77	-35	-1	63
Middle Cingulate	A (* 11*	70	7	10	20
Cortex	Midline	12	/	-13	39
Cerebellum	Left	67	35	47	-33
Superior Frontal	Right	67	-39	-23	55
Gyrus	Right	62	-31	-63	7
Superior Frontal	I - A	49	15	51	45
Gyrus	Len	40	13	-31	43
Inferior Temporal	Laft	55	57	20	21
Gyrus	Len	55	57	37	-21
Orbitofrontal	Left	53	25	_17	17
Cortex	Lett	55	23	+ /	-1/

Middle Temporal	Left	52	71	29	3
Gyrus			, -		C
Temporoparietal	Laft	18	61	41	1
Junction	Len	<b>о</b> г	01	71	1

**Table 8.** Clusters where activity was significantly higher in the Retrieve than the Substitute condition in the middle of the delay period. Voxel wise threshold of p < 0.01, cluster threshold of p < 0.05.

			Pea	Peak Voxel (MNI)		
Region	Hemisphere	Voxels	Х	У	Z	
Anterior Cingulate	Midline	49	1	-35	5	
Cortex	1011dillite	17	1	50	5	
Supramarginal	Right	40	-61	29	29	
Gyrus	Nigitt	40	-01	2)	2)	

# **Question 2: Neural Correlates of Successful Memory Regulation**

The second goal of the current study was to examine the neural correlates of *successful* memory regulation using eye-movement behavior as an online measure of the success of regulation. For this purpose, I examined whether activity in regions that were involved in memory regulation was modulated by viewing behavior. I correlated, across participants, activity in the Suppress and Substitute conditions in the ROIs described above with the mean proportion of viewing directed to the associate in the search display.

For the suppress condition, activity in the right dlPFC, vlPFC and IPL ROIs derived from Apšvalka et al. (2020) was moderately negatively correlated with the proportion of associate viewing, right dlPFC: r = -0.26, p = 0.19; right vlPFC: r = -0.29, p = 0.16; right SMA: r = -0.08, p = 0.71. A similar trend was observed in both ROIs derived from Benoit & Anderson (2012), right dlPFC: r = -0.07, p = 0.72; left vlPFC: r = -0.32, p = 0.11. Conversely, there was a positive correlation between activity in the left and right hippocampal ROIs and associate viewing, right hippocampus: r = 0.26, p = 0.21; left hippocampus: r = 0.13, p = 0.52.

In the Substitute condition there was a weak but positive correlation between activity in the right vIPFC and IPL ROI from Apšvalka et al. (2020), and associate viewing, right vIPFC: r = 0.13, p = 0.50; r = 0.03; p = 0.88, whereas in the right SMA and dIPFC, the correlation was negative, right SMA: r = -0.10, p = 0.61; right dIPFC: r = -0.02 p = 0.91. Similarly, there was a negative correlation between activity in PFC ROIs derived from Benoit & Anderson (2012) and viewing, right dIPFC: r = -0.16, p = 0.43; left vIPFC: r = -0.13, p = 0.51. Finally, there was a positive correlation between activity in the right hippocampus and viewing behavior, r = 0.19, p = 0.34, and a negative correlation between left hippocampus activity and viewing behavior, r = -0.03, p = 0.90 (see Figure 9). However, these correlations were not statistically significant for either condition.



**Figure 9.** Viewing-related modulation in a priori ROIs. Correlations between activity in a priori ROIs with proportion of viewing directed to the associate.

I also examined regions outside these ROIs that may be sensitive to the success of memory regulation using a separate GLM. It may be expected that if prioritization of the associate in viewing behavior on a given trial is indicative of poor memory regulation in the Suppress and Substitute conditions, then this failure to exert successful control will be reflected in brain activity in regions that are involved in regulation. For this analysis, trials during the search phase were labelled based on whether the associate, or a non-associate object was prioritized (see section Object Prioritization above) and were analyzed separately in the GLM. This model consisted of 18 regressors of interest – the scene cue, delay, and search display onsets with trials sorted as a function of condition (Retrieve, Suppress, Substitute) and viewing (associate prioritized, non-associate prioritized). An additional regressor modelled all events from trials that were discarded due to bad viewing (i.e., less that 65% eye-tracking data available). Regressors modelling linear drifts and six demeaned head-motion parameters and their derivatives were included as regressors of no interest. Whole-brain analyses were conducted by contrasting trials in which the associate was prioritized, with trials in which a nonassociate object was prioritized, separately for the Retrieve, Suppress and Substitute conditions. Contrast maps were thresholded at a voxel-wise threshold of p < 0.01.

In the Retrieve condition, activity in the primary visual cortex, precuneus and right vIPFC was higher when the associate was prioritized, compared to when a non-associate object was prioritized. In the Suppress condition, a similar pattern was observed in the IPL, superior temporal sulcus (STS) and inferior temporal gyrus in the right hemisphere. Finally, in the Substitute condition, the opposite pattern (i.e., greater activity in trials where a non-associate object was prioritized) was evident in the right orbitofrontal cortex, SFG and the middle cingulate cortex. However, these clusters were not significant following cluster correction.

## **Question 3: Effect of Memory Regulation on Neural Reinstatement in the MTL**

The final goal of the study was to examine the effect of memory regulation on MTL reinstatement of encoded information using RSA. Reinstatement was measured as the correlation between trial-specific activity from the search phase, with "representational templates" of each object derived from the pre-exposure phase.

## **Derivation of Representational Templates**

To ensure that beta values were extracted from precise anatomical structures, all RSA analyses were conducted in participants' native (i.e., non-normalized) space. Pre-exposure data was preprocessed using the same steps described above (removal of first four TRs, slice-time correction, motion-correction, alignment to anatomical scan, and smoothing using a 4mm FWHM Gaussian kernel). Scans from the pre-exposure phase were aligned to the T1 image collected during the search phase. This was done to ensure that search phase and pre-exposure phase EPIs were in the same space. Alignment between the pre-exposure EPIs and the search phase T1s, and between pre-exposure and search phase EPIs was verified using visual inspection. Concatenated preprocessed runs were analyzed using 3dDeconvolve. The regression model consisted of 11 regressors – one regressor each for the three faces, three tools, and three scenes presented during the pre-exposure phase, as well as one regressor modelling the presentation of the "targets" (i.e., immediate repeats for the 1-back task), and one regressor modelling button-press responses. Regressors modelling linear drifts and six demeaned headmotion parameters, and their derivatives were included as regressors of no interest. Beta-maps corresponding to each object served as the representational template for that object.

## Trial-by-trial Search Phase Models
The least-squares single approach was used to extract trial-specific activity from the search phase (Mumford et al., 2012). In this method one GLM is conducted per trial. The GLM of each trial consists of one regressor modelling the event of interest of that trial, and additional regressors modelling all other events and trials. Following this approach, for each GLM, I included one regressor modelling the middle of the delay period of a given trial, three regressors modelling the delay period of the remaining trials separately for each condition, and three regressors each, modelling the scene cue and search display for all trials separately for each condition. To reduce computation time, search runs were not concatenated. Only one run containing the current trial was processed in each GLM (e.g., only Run 1 was included for computing activity for Trial 1 of Run 1, only Run 2 was included for Trial 1 of Run 2 and so on). This approach is consistent with past work that has used FSL and SPM for modelling trial-specific activity (e.g., Zhao et al., 2021; Mack & Preston, 2016; Libby et al., 2014).

#### **Computing Pattern Similarity**

Before extracting representational templates and trial-specific activity, the output from the pre-exposure and search phase GLMs was multiplied with whole-brain masks derived from the preprocessing of both phases. This was done to ensure that beta-values were only extracted from voxels that had valid data in both the pre-exposure and search phase. For each participant representational templates (beta values) corresponding to the three faces and three tools were extracted from the pre-exposure phase from the left and right hippocampus and perirhinal cortex (PrC) derived from the participant's Freesurfer segmentation. Next trial-specific activity from the middle of the delay period in the search phase was extracted from the same anatomical masks. Finally, reinstatement on each trial was quantified by calculating a Pearson's correlation between the trial-specific beta values from each voxel within a region of interest and the corresponding

beta values from the representational template of each object. Correlation values were Fisher-z transformed. Only trials with correct responses in the hybrid encode-and-test procedure were carried forward for the RSA analyses.

**Pattern Similarity with Associate.** I first examined the effect of memory retrieval and regulation on the reinstatement of the associate object. For this purpose, pattern similarity for each ROI (left and right hippocampus and PrC) with the representational template of the associate was averaged across trials separately for the three conditions (Retrieve, Suppress and Substitute) and associate categories (Face and Tool). Pairwise post-hoc t-tests were used to compare pattern similarity between conditions separately for Faces and Tools to test whether memory regulation reduced the reinstatement of the associate.

Interestingly, in the bilateral Hippocampus and the left PrC, the pattern of associate reactivation between conditions for faces was opposite to that observed for tools. In these regions, associate reactivation in trials where the associate was a face was numerically higher in the Retrieve compared to the Suppress and Substitute conditions. This pattern was significant for the difference between the Retrieve and Substitute condition in the right Hippocampus, t(25) = 2.31, uncorrected p = 0.02, d = 0.48. All other pairwise differences were not statistically significant, t's  $\leq 1.56$ , p's  $\geq 0.13$ , d's  $\leq 0.43$ . Contrarily, for trials where the associate was a tool, reinstatement was consistently lower in the Retrieve relative to the Suppress and Substitute conditions (see Figure 10). In the right Hippocampus, associate reactivation was significantly lower in the Retrieve and Suppress relative to the Substitute condition, t's  $\geq 2.81$ , p's < 0.02, d's  $\geq 0.75$ . All other pairwise comparisons were not significant t's  $\leq 1.1.58$ , p's  $\geq 0.13$ , d's  $\leq 0.39$ . In the right PrC, associate reactivation was numerically highest in the Suppress condition for both

faces and tools. However, once again, these pairwise differences were not significant *t*'s  $\leq$  1.53, *p*'s  $\geq$  0.14, *d*'s  $\leq$  0.43.



**Figure 10.** Associate reactivation in the medial temporal lobe. Pattern similarity with representational template of the associate in the left and right Hippocampus (top) and the PrC (Bottom).  $^+$  uncorrected *p*.

*Pattern Similarity with Prioritized Associate.* In the current study, eye-movements dedicated to the associate embedded in the search display were used as an index of the success of memory retrieval and regulation. If eye-movement behavior reflects the object that was retrieved and held active during the delay period (i.e., prior to the presentation of the search display), it may be expected that pattern similarity with the associate would be higher in trials where the

associate was the prioritized object, as compared to trials where a non-associate object was prioritized. To test this possibility, I labelled trials based on whether the associate was prioritized, and compared pattern similarity between associate prioritized and non-associate prioritized trials, separately for the three conditions and associate categories. Pairwise differences in pattern similarity between associate prioritized and non-prioritized trials were not significant, t's  $\leq 1.73$ , p's  $\geq 0.09$ , d's  $\geq 0.44$ . However, in the left PrC, pattern similarity with the associate was numerically higher for trials in which the associate was prioritized, compared to trials in which a non-associate object was prioritized (see Figure 12).



**Figure 11.** Viewing-related modulation of associate reactivation in the hippocampus. Pattern similarity with the representational template of the associate, conditionalized on viewing-based prioritization in the left and right Hippocampus separately for faces (left) and tools (right).



**Figure 12.** Viewing-related modulation of associate reactivation in the perirhinal cortex. Pattern similarity with the representational template of the associate, conditionalized on viewing-based prioritization in the left and right PrC separately for faces (left) and tools (right).

*Pattern Similarity in the Substitute Condition.* The final goal of this study was to investigate whether thought substitution is associated with an upregulation of the representation in the MTL of the object chosen by participants as a substitute on a trial-by-trial basis. To test this, for all trials in the substitute condition, I identified the object that was prioritized (i.e., most viewed) in the search display. Next, in the subset of trials in which an opposite-category object was prioritized, two pattern similarity indices were calculated- similarity with the

representational template of *associate* object, and pattern similarity with the representational template of the *prioritized opposite category* object. These similarity values were then compared using a paired t-test separately for faces and tools. In the left and right Hippocampus and PrC for faces, and the right hippocampus and bilateral PrC for tools, pattern similarity with the template of the prioritized opposite category object was numerically higher than with the template of the associate (see Figure 13). In the left hippocampus, the opposite pattern was evident for tools, in that pattern similarity was greater with the associate, relative to the prioritized opposite category object. These pairwise differences were, however, not significant t's  $\leq 1.74$ , p's  $\geq 0.09$ , d's  $\leq 0.35$ .



**Figure 13.** Reinstatement in the Substitute condition. Pattern similarity with the representational template of the associate (dark green) and the prioritized object from the opposite category as the associate (light green) for trials in the Substitute condition in the Hippocampus (top) and the PrC (bottom).

The results from the final aim, suggest that reinstatement of encoded information in the MTL is affected by attempts to regulate memory retrieval. This is evidenced by lower pattern similarity with the associate template in the bilateral hippocampus in trials where the associate was a face in the Suppress and Substitute conditions. Strikingly, the opposite pattern was observed for trials where the associate was a tool.

#### Discussion

The current study aimed to examine three open questions in the field of episodic memory regulation. First, what are the neural correlates of *self-directed* thought substitution? Second, what are the processes involved in *successful* memory regulation? Finally, what is the effect of the two strategies of memory regulation on neural reinstatement of encoded information in the MTL? I capitalized on previously established links between eye-movements and memory, and used viewing behavior as an incidental, online index of memory retrieval and regulation in a novel paradigm designed to probe direct suppression and thought substitution. Participants first encoded three faces and three tools with several scenes. After encoding, they completed a memory regulation and search phase during which they were presented with scene cues along with an instruction to either retrieve, suppress or substitute the memory of the associate of the scene while undergoing concurrent eye-tracking and fMRI. This was followed by the presentation of a search display consisting of the encoded objects which were irrelevant to the instructed search task. However, incidental viewing directed to the objects in the search display was used as an index of memory retrieval and memory regulation success. Finally, participants completed a recognition memory test during which they were presented with encoded scenes, and were instructed to select the associate from amongst the six possible alternatives (three faces and three tools). Performance in this part of the experiment was used to examine whether there

was any memory enhancement associated with retrieval of the matching object, or any memory decrement associated with regulation during the search phase.

Behavioral results revealed that memory regulation led to a decrement in memory performance in the final recognition memory phase. However, this effect was limited to pairs where the associate was a tool. There was no difference in accuracy between conditions for pairs in which the associate was a face. Eye-tracking data indicated that for both faces and tools, viewing directed to the associate was downregulated in the suppress and substitute conditions, relative to the retrieve condition. On the other hand, viewing-based prioritization of an object from the opposite category was highest in the substitute condition, where participants were explicitly instructed to call to mind a specific object from the opposite category as the associate.

To examine brain regions involved in memory regulation, I first probed ROIs that were previously identified to be involved in memory regulation in studies using the TNT task (Apšvalka et al. 2020; Benoit & Anderson, 2012). These results replicated the finding that activity in the right prefrontal cortex was significantly higher in the suppress, but not the substitute condition, relative to the retrieve condition, whereas activity in the left PFC was higher in the substitute condition. Contrary to past work (Anderson et al., 2004), however, I did not find a reduction in hippocampal activity in the suppress condition. Further, activity differences in these regions were moderately correlated with the success of memory regulation, as measured by viewing behavior, but these correlations were not significant. Whole-brain analyses also revealed extensive activity outside these a priori ROIs that was lateralized to the right hemisphere in the suppress condition, and to the left hemisphere in the substitute condition. Finally, RSA was used to examine the effect of memory regulation on the neural reinstatement of encoded information in the MTL. Results from this analysis indicated an opposite pattern for faces and tools.

Associate reactivation in the right hippocampus was higher in the retrieve condition compared to the suppress and substitute conditions for trials where the associate was a face. However, reactivation of tool associates was significantly higher in the suppress and substitute conditions, relative to the retrieve condition.

# Eye-movements Are Sensitive to Memory Regulation and May Index Active

## Representations

Past work has shown that the eye-movement-based memory effect is evident across a range of task demands. Disproportionate viewing of items retrieved from memory is evident when memory cues are presented subliminally (Nickel et al., 2015), when participants are instructed to conceal their memories (Mahoney et al., 2018), when they are instructed to ignore the retrieved items in search displays (Nickel et al., 2020), and when explicit recognition fails (Hannula et al., 2012; Hannula & Ranganath, 2009). However, whether this effect persists when participants are instructed to exert top-down control on memory processing is still unclear. One recent study used eye-tracking while participants completed a directed forgetting task and found that patterns of eye-movements distinguished information that had been forgotten as a result of top-down control, from information that had been incidentally forgotten (Whitlock et al., 2020). In a typical directed forgetting task, participants first complete a study phase during which they are exposed to some information (e.g., words, pictures). A subset of trials in the study phase are accompanied by a forget cue, and participants are instructed to attempt to forget the information, and are told that memory for this information will not be tested. During the test phase, however, all stimuli are tested regardless of the remember/forget instruction in the study phase. Memory on the final recognition phase is typically worse for items that were accompanied by an instruction to forget (forget-items), compared to items that participants were instructed to

remember (remember-items; Bancroft et al., 2013; Hockley et al., 2016; for a review see Sahakyan & Foster, 2016). It has been suggested that directed forgetting is effortful and requires top-down inhibitory control during encoding (Anderson & Hanslmayr, 2014; Fawcett & Taylor, 2010; Wylie et al., 2008). Using this paradigm, Whitlock et al. (2020) found that eye-movements directed to the forget-items are significantly reduced relative to remember-items, only when the item is successfully forgotten. Moreover, viewing to purposely forgotten items (i.e., items that were accompanied by a forget cue during encoding) is even lower than items in the remember condition that were incidentally forgotten, suggesting that exerting top-down inhibitory control during encoding impairs the memory beyond what is observed in incidental forgetting, and that eye-movements can distinguish between these forms of forgetting.

The current study extends these findings by demonstrating that top-down control of retrieval also downregulates viewing directed to retrieved information. Unlike in Whitlock et al. (2020) who examined how exerting control during encoding affects eye-movements during subsequent retrieval, here, this effect was present while participants were attempting to control memory retrieval itself. This was evidenced by the fact that viewing to the associate of the scene cue was significantly reduced in the suppress and substitute conditions relative to the retrieve condition. Furthermore, I found that viewing of an opposite category object was higher in the substitute condition, when participants were instructed to call to mind a specific object from the opposite category. This effect was evident regardless of the category that participants were using for substitution. This suggests that memory-based eye-movements are sensitive to top-down control, and may index representations that are actively held in mind by participants on a trial-by-trial basis. Further evidence for this comes from the RSA analysis of the substitute trials. Here, the non-associate object that was prioritized in viewing behavior was identified for each

trial. I found that compared to the associate, pattern similarity was numerically higher with the representational template of this prioritized non-associate object (Figure 13). It is possible that representations activated in the medial temporal lobe may drive oculomotor behavior causing eye-movements to be drawn to the information that is being actively represented. Future studies might examine the neural mechanisms underlying this interaction between the MTL and the brain regions that control eye-movement behavior (Hannula, 2018) in the context of memory retrieval and regulation.

## **Suppression and Substitution Activate Distinct Brain Regions**

The design in the current study permitted me to directly compare the neural correlates of retrieval suppression and thought substitution. Univariate analyses from these conditions revealed that the two strategies were associated with activity differences in distinct, hemispherically lateralized regions in the frontal cortex. Retrieval suppression was associated with higher activity in the right dorsolateral and ventrolateral PFC, as well as the inferior frontal gyrus, whereas thought substitution more strongly activated the left ventrolateral PFC. This hemispheric dissociation is consistent with results from a past study that also compared retrieval suppression and thought substitution (Benoit & Anderson, 2012). In contrast to Benoit and Anderson (2012), however, in the current study I also found extensive, lateralized activation that was associated with one of the two conditions outside the ROIs that were previously probed. This could be due to two reasons – first, unlike Benoit and Anderson (2012), the current study used a within-subjects design, potentially providing more power to detect between-strategy differences. Second, brain activity differences reported in Benoit and Anderson (2012) came from the presentation of the memory cue. As described above, in the encoding phase of the TNT task, participant learn several cue-target word pairs. Then, in the TNT phase, they are presented

with cue words in either green or red, which indicates to the participant that they should either recall the target (green; think condition) or push the target out of awareness (red; no-think condition). This design only permits the modelling of the memory cue presentation in each trial of the TNT phase. Episodic memory regulation involves the inhibition of retrieval, which is a prepotent response (Anderson et al., 2016; Anderson & Huddleston, 2012; Anderson, 2003). This process recruits neural mechanisms similar to those required for response inhibition. Evidence from the response inhibition literature suggests that this process requires some time to be upregulated (Lingnau & Vorberg, 2005; Kiefer et al., 1998). If it is the case that cognitive control mechanisms take some time to be fully engaged, then it may be expected that activity in the regions responsible for this process may peak a little while after the presentation of the cue. Indeed, one study reported that suppression was more effective when the think/no-think instruction was given in advance of the memory cue, suggesting that participants benefit from additional preparatory time to implement the no-think instruction (HansImayr et al., 2010).

The design in the current study permitted me to separately model two time points in the trial (the presentation of the scene cue, and the middle of the delay period). Results from the scene-cue, which is the trial period that is most often modeled in past studies using the TNT task, exhibited a similar pattern to that reported by Benoit & Anderson (2012), i.e., higher activity in the right dIPFC for suppress trials, and higher activity in the left vIPFC in the substitute condition. However, exploratory whole-brain analyses revealed more extensive activation in the delay period (Tables 5 and 7) compared to the presentation of the scene cue (Tables 1 and 3). This may suggest that some regions involved in memory regulation come online after the presentation of the suppression instruction and memory cue.

The distinct networks involved in these strategies may underlie the contrasting task demands of retrieval suppression and thought substitution. The right hemisphere dominance for retrieval suppression has been previously reported (e.g., Benoit et al., 2015; Gagnepain et al., 2014; Anderson et al., 2004). It has been suggested that retrieval suppression represents a special case of a domain-general inhibition mechanism that is flexibly recruited for top-down control across different domains including response inhibition (Rae et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2017), and emotion regulation (Depue et al., 2007; for a review see Anderson & Huddleston, 2012). A recent study by Apšvalka et al. (2020) lends support to this hypothesis through three key sets of results. First, Apšvalka et al. (2020) found that the TNT and go/no-go tasks (probing retrieval suppression and response inhibition, respectively) activated overlapping regions in the right PFC. Second, a pattern classification analysis revealed that a model trained on activity in the PFC from the go/no-go task reliably discriminated think from no-think trials in the TNT task. Third, connectivity analyses using the same seed region in the PFC indicated higher connectivity with the motor cortex relative to the hippocampus during the go/no-go task, whereas during the TNT task, connectivity was higher with the hippocampus. Taken together, these results suggest that regions in the right PFC may represent hubs involved in a domain-general inhibitory mechanism that flexibly alter connectivity with target regions based on task-demands.

Although thought substitution had similar behavioral consequences to retrieval suppression (i.e., decrement in recognition memory and reduced viewing directed to the associate), the process elicited activity in distinct brain regions, including the dorsolateral and ventrolateral PFC, and the inferior and superior parietal lobes in the left hemisphere. In the past, thought substitution has been investigated using a modified version of the TNT task (Hertel & Calcaterra, 2005; Benoit & Anderson, 2012). Here, participants learn two targets associated with

each cue. Then in the TNT phase, they are instructed to substitute the memory of the first paired associate of the cue with the second one. In Benoit and Anderson (2012), this task was associated with increased activity in two regions in the left hemisphere – the vIPFC and caudal PFC. In the current study, the experiment was designed to permit participants to self-generate a thought substitute on a trial-by-trial basis, rather than select the substitute from one of two associates paired with the same item. This was done to more closely resemble the process of thought substitution in the real world, where we often choose the information we use for substitution (Hotta & Kawaguchi, 2009). For this, participants were instructed to substitute the memory of the associate of the scene with a specific object of their choosing from the opposite category as the associate. Although this design provided participants with some flexibility in terms of the information they chose for substitution, it introduced one major difference from the modified TNT task. Here, in order for participants to know which category they should use for substitution, they were necessarily required to first retrieve the associate of the scene cue. It is possible that some of the activity in this condition observed in the current study was associated with the requirement in our task to specifically resolve competition after having first retrieved the associate. Consistent with this idea, it has been suggested that activity in the IPL mediates attention capture by retrieved memory (Vincent et al., 2006), whereas activity in the SPL underlies top-down orienting of attention to internal memory representations (Polyn et al., 2005; see Ciaramelli & Moscovitch, 2020 and Ciaramelli et al., 2008 for reviews). Both these regions exhibited significantly higher activity in the substitute, but not the suppress condition, relative to the retrieve condition in the current study. Similarly, activity in the left vIPFC has been consistently reported in studies using the retrieval-induced forgetting paradigm – a task that requires participants to select one of several competing memory representations (Wimber et al.,

2008; Kuhl et al., 2008). In this task, participants first encode several exemplars from a certain semantic category (e.g., SPORT-tennis, SPORT-hockey, FRUIT-orange, FRUIT-kiwi). Then, in a retrieval practice phase, they are presented with category information and are instructed to rehearse only a subset of the exemplars based on cues (e.g., FRUIT-ki ). Results from this task show that memory for practiced exemplars (FRUIT-kiwi) is better than memory for items from categories that were not used in the retrieval practice phase (SPORT), whereas memory for non-practiced exemplars (FRUIT-orange) is worse (Anderson et al., 2000; Wimber et al., 2008; Kuhl et al., 2008; Spitzer and Baüml, 2007; Spitzer 2014). It has been suggested that this effect is driven by top-down inhibition of memory of competing exemplars from the retrieved categories by regions including the anterior cingulate cortex and the left vlPFC (Kuhl et al., 2007; Wimber et al., 2008; 2015; see Murayama et al., 2014 for a meta-analysis), both regions that showed significantly higher activity selectively in the substitute condition in the current study. These results support the idea that activation of the left lateral PFC observed in the current study may underlie the requirement in thought substitution to resolve competition between the retrieved object, and the object chosen for substitution. Additionally, activity in the parietal lobe, which has not been previously reported in studies on thought substitution, may be involved in shifting attention from the representation of the retrieved associate to the substitute object that is self-generated by the participant.

To summarize, results from the current study demonstrated that retrieval suppression and thought substitution activated distinct brain regions in the right and left PFC, respectively. In addition, the thought substitution condition was also associated with increased activity in the parietal lobe. These findings indicate that the two strategies of memory regulation are subserved by independent neural mechanisms that may support their differing task demands.

## Activity in Control Regions Was Not Sensitive to Regulation Success

One novel aspect of the current study was the use of an online, incidental measure of the success of memory regulation. In most past TNT studies, memory performance in the final recall phase is used as an index of how well participants were regulating their memories in the TNT phase. Although memory decrement for suppressed information is often observed in these studies, the size of the effect is quite variable (Anderson & Huddleston, 2012; see Bulevich et al., 2006; Bergström et al., 2007 for instances where no forgetting was observed). As such, final memory performance may be a coarse measure of regulation success. An online measure may be more sensitive to detecting idiosyncratic changes in regulation success on a trial-by-trial basis. One past study used explicit reports as an online index of regulation. In this study by Benoit et al. (2015), participants were instructed to report on each no-think trial how successful they were in suppressing the memory of the associate. Results revealed that participants reported intrusions of the associate on up to 30% of trials, particularly on the first presentation of the pair. Furthermore, activity in the dIPFC varied as a function of intrusion, such that activation was higher on trials where participants reported intrusions.

The current study demonstrates that eye-movement behavior may be another good online index not only of retrieval as is suggested by past work (e.g., Hannula et al., 2006) but also of memory regulation, since eye-movements were affected by what participants were instructed to do when scenes were presented. Overall, viewing directed to the associate was significantly reduced in the suppress and substitute conditions, as compared to the retrieve condition. However, the viewing-based prioritization analysis revealed that in approximately 20% of trials in the regulation conditions, participants directed disproportionate viewing to the associate,

suggesting that at least in a few trials, participants were unable to successfully regulate retrieval of the associate object (Figure 5).

To examine whether, similar to Benoit et al. (2015), activity in control regions involved in memory regulation was sensitive to the success of regulation, I correlated across participants, activity in these regions with the proportion of viewing dedicated to the associate in the suppress and substitute conditions. If activity in control regions was modulated by regulation success, then it may be expected that brain activity would be higher amongst participants who dedicated lower viewing to the associate (possibly indexing successful regulation). However, in the current study, there was no correlation between brain activity and viewing behavior. The correlational analysis used here did not leverage trial-by-trial differences in regulation success within a participant. It is possible that averaging brain activity across trials may obscure subtle differences in brain activity that are evident at the level of individual trials. Thus, correlating brain activity and viewing behavior at the level of individual trials (within a participant) rather than averaging across trials may be more sensitive to detecting modulation of brain activity by regulation success. Future analyses might also examine whether different metrics (e.g., the connectivity between control regions and the hippocampus), rather than univariate activity, are more sensitive to regulation success as measured using eye-movement behavior.

## **Reactivation of Tool Associates May Lead to Improved Forgetting**

One intriguing finding from the current study was that differences in associate reinstatement in the hippocampus between conditions depended on the category of the associate. For pairs in which the associate was a face, pattern similarity with the template of the associate was highest in the retrieve condition, as compared to the suppress and substitute conditions. Conversely, for tools pattern similarity with the associate was lowest in the retrieve condition

(Figure 10). Past work has demonstrated that memory regulation leads to a reduction in associate reinstatement, which is linked with worse memory (Wimber et al., 2015). Based on these results, it would be expected that memory for regulated face associates would be impaired, since reactivation of face associates was lower in the suppress and substitute conditions. On the other hand, memory for tool associates should be intact, given that tool reactivation was higher in the suppress and substitute conditions. However, here I found the opposite pattern such that memory for regulated pairs was worse for tools, but not for faces relative to the respective baseline trials. This suggests that *higher* reactivation of regulated tool associates led to *worse* memory performance. These contradictory findings may be reconciled under a recent computational model that proposes that there is a U-shaped (rather than linear) relationship between memory reactivation and memory strengthening. According to the non-monotonic plasticity hypothesis (Norman et al., 2006; 2007; Newman & Norman, 2010), high levels of memory reactivation lead to strengthening of the memory, whereas low levels of reactivation leave memory strength unchanged. Counterintuitively, moderate levels of reactivation put the memory in a state that is susceptible to be altered by factors such as top-down control, leading to weakening of the memory strength (for a review see Ritvo et al., 2019).

This proposal has been tested in a study by Detre et al. (2013) using the standard TNT task. In this study, participants encoded words with pictures of faces, scenes, cars and shoes. In the TNT phase, they were presented with word cues along with an instruction to either retrieve the associated picture (think condition), or to push it out of awareness (no-think condition). Similar to the current study, participants in Detre et al. (2013) completed a functional localizer scan during which they were presented with pictures of exemplars from the four categories used in the study phase. A ridge regression model was trained on the localizer scans to detect activity

patterns associated with processing each of the four categories. This model was applied to each trial from the TNT task to measure the extent of reactivation on a given trial. This measure was then related to recall performance on a subsequent memory test. Using a novel Bayesian curve-fitting procedure, Detre et al. (2013) demonstrated that the relationship between associate reactivation and memory strength was, in fact, U-shaped. Final memory performance was lower for trials that showed moderate levels of memory reactivation during the TNT phase as compared to trials with very low and very high levels of reactivation. Recent studies have shown that this model predicts level of forgetting across a range of tasks, including retrieval-induced forgetting (Wang et al., 2019) and working memory suppression (Lewis-Peacock & Norman, 2014). Moreover, this relationship between reactivation and memory strength is suggested to underlie the variability observed in the memory decrement for no-think items observed across TNT studies (Anderson & Huddleston, 2012).

In the current study, two pieces of preliminary evidence might suggest moderate reactivation of tools as compared to faces. First, memory for pairs where the associate was a tool was significantly worse than faces in the hybrid encode-and-test procedure, i.e., prior to the memory regulation and search phase. A recent study demonstrated that forgetting of no-think items in the TNT task is better when baseline learning is low (Rogers, 2021). Additionally, past work suggests that memory reinstatement in the MTL correlates with accuracy (Tompary et al., 2016; Thakral et al., 2015). Hence it is possible that poorer encoding of pairs where the associate was a tool relative to faces could have led to lower levels of tool reinstatement. Second, there was a main effect of associate category on viewing directed to the associate object, such that regardless of condition (retrieve, suppress or substitute), viewing directed to tool associates was lower than faces. If it is the case that viewing behavior reflects strength of retrieved memory

trace (Whitlock et al., 2020), then it may be expected that the strength of reactivation was lower for tools as compared to faces. These results may suggest that the level of reactivation of tools in the suppress and substitute conditions pushed these memories into the "dip" of the U-shaped curve, making them more likely to be modified by cognitive control mechanisms and subsequently forgotten. This hypothesis, of course, would need to be directly tested in the future using the current dataset.

## **Limitations and Future Directions**

One effect that was not reliably replicated in the current study was the reduction in hippocampal activity in the suppress condition. The design of the experiment reported here represents two major departures from the standard TNT task that may underlie the failure to replicate this effect. First, in the current study several scenes were paired with only a small set of associates, unlike previous studies in which unique targets were used in each pair. This modification was made to permit exemplar-level decoding based on eye-tracking data. However, this may have discouraged participants from strongly suppressing the associate representation on a suppress or substitute trial, since the associate may need to be recalled in a subsequent trial in the retrieve condition. Second, unlike past studies, here each pair was presented only once. In the standard TNT task, participants complete anywhere between one and 16 repetitions of each pair in TNT phase. Indeed, below baseline forgetting is strongest for pairs that have been suppressed multiple times (Anderson & Green, 2001; Hotta & Kawaguchi, 2009; Hertel & Calcaterra, 2005; Anderson & Huddleston, 2012). Similarly, significant reduction of associate reinstatement only emerges at the fourth repetition of a no-think pair (Wimber et al., 2015). It is possible that a single attempt of suppression is not sufficient to downregulate hippocampal activity. These factors may have affected my ability in the current study to replicate previously demonstrated

effects on hippocampal activity. It may be the case that hippocampal disengagement is only evident in trials in which participants have successfully suppressed their memories (i.e., after repeated attempts at suppression). Future analyses might examine whether this effect emerges in the current study on the subset of suppress trials in which participants dedicate low viewing to the associate of the scene cue (indexing successful suppression).

Another possibility is that the suppression-related hippocampal effect is small, and most evident for respective associate categories in subregions of the hippocampus and MTL involved in processing information from those categories. Past studies suggest that there is some selectivity in terms of the type of information processed in subregions of the MTL (e.g., higher face processing in the anterior portions of the hippocampus, Fairhall et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2008; greater object processing in the PrC, Litman et al., 2009; see Robin et al., 2018 for a metaanalysis). If it is the case that, for instance, suppressing faces selectively reduces activity in specific regions of the hippocampus involved in representing faces, then averaging across the entire hippocampus may obscure differences arising from associate categories. Future analyses might probe these subregions to examine whether a reduction in activity is more apparent in anatomically specific areas.

The aim of the current study was to examine the effect of memory regulation on associate reactivation specifically in the MTL. Past work examining memory reinstatement during retrieval has reported item- and context-specific reactivation in the MTL (Tompary et al., 2016; Mack & Preston, 2016; Dimsdale-Zucker et al., 2018). However, studies investigating memory regulation have largely limited multivariate analyses examining effects of regulation on reinstatement to regions of the brain involved in the sensory processing of the associate such as the parahippocampal gyrus (Meyer & Benoit, 2021; Detre et al., 2013) or the fusiform face area

(Detre et al., 2013). It is possible that reduction of reinstatement during memory control is more subtle in the MTL. In fact, Wimber et al. (2015) found that memory regulation reduced reactivation only in the inferior temporal cortex. This effect was not evident in the hippocampus. Further, forgetting of no-think items was correlated with the extent of pattern suppression in the inferior temporal cortex, but not in the hippocampus. Thus, including multivariate analyses in the current study from regions outside the MTL may be more informative in terms of elucidating the relationship between reinstatement, viewing behavior, and memory performance.

## Conclusions

To conclude, in the current study, I developed a novel paradigm that paired eye-tracking with fMRI to address three open questions in the field of memory regulation. Overall, the results reveal that different strategies of memory regulation engage distinct cortical networks. Additionally, the current study contributes to the growing body of literature on memory regulation by demonstrating that the interactions between cognitive control mechanisms and memory retrieval can influence not just explicit recognition memory, but also more incidental measures such as eye-movement behavior.

## References

- Althoff R. et al. (1999) Eye Movement-Based Memory Assessment. In W. Becker, H. Deubel, T. Mergner (Eds.), *Current Oculomotor Research* (pp. 293-302). Springer, Boston, MA. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-3054-8\_40">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-3054-8\_40</a>
- Anderson, M. C. (2003). Rethinking interference theory: Executive control and the mechanisms of forgetting. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 49(4), 415-445.
  <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2003.08.006</u>
- Anderson, M. C., Bunce, J. G., & Barbas, H. (2016). Prefrontal–hippocampal pathways underlying inhibitory control over memory. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 134, 145-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2015.11.008</u>
- Anderson, M. C., & Green, C. (2001). Suppressing unwanted memories by executive control. *Nature*, *410*(6826), 366-369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/35066572</u>
- Anderson, M. C., & Hanslmayr, S. (2014). Neural mechanisms of motivated forgetting. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 18(6), 279-292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2014.03.002</u>
- Anderson M.C., Huddleston E. (2012) Towards a Cognitive and Neurobiological Model of Motivated Forgetting. In R. Belli (Eds.) *True and False Recovered Memories: Toward a Reconciliation of the Debate* (pp. 53-120). Nebraska Symposium on Motivation.
  Springer, New York, NY. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-1195-6\_3</u>

- Anderson, M. C., Ochsner, K. N., Kuhl, B., Cooper, J., Robertson, E., Gabrieli, S. W., Glover, G. H., Gabrieli, J. D. (2004). Neural systems underlying the suppression of unwanted memories. *Science*, 303(5655), 232-235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1089504</u>
- Anderson M. C. & Weaver C. (2009) Inhibitory Control over Action and Memory. In L. R. Squire (Ed.) *Encyclopedia of Neuroscience* (pp. 153-163). Oxford: Academic Press.
- Apšvalka, D., Ferreira, C. S., Schmitz, T. W., Rowe, J. B., & Anderson, M. C. (2020). Dynamic targeting enables domain-general inhibitory control over action and thought by the prefrontal cortex. *bioRxiv*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.22.350520</u>
- Bancroft, T. D., Hockley, W. E., & Farquhar, R. (2013). The longer we have to forget the more we remember: The ironic effect of postcue duration in item-based directed forgetting. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 39(3), 691-699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029523</u>
- Badre, D., & Wagner, A. D. (2007). Left ventrolateral prefrontal cortex and the cognitive control of memory. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(13), 2883-2901.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.06.015">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.06.015</a>
- Banich, M. T., & Depue, B. E. (2015). Recent advances in understanding neural systems that support inhibitory control. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 1, 17-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2014.07.006</u>

- Benoit, R. G., & Anderson, M. C. (2012). Opposing mechanisms support the voluntary forgetting of unwanted memories. *Neuron*, 76(2), 450-460. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.07.025</u>
- Benoit, R. G., Hulbert, J. C., Huddleston, E., & Anderson, M. C. (2015). Adaptive top–down suppression of hippocampal activity and the purging of intrusive memories from consciousness. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 27(1), 96-111. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn a 00696
- Bergström, Z. M., Anderson, M. C., Buda, M., Simons, J. S., & Richardson-Klavehn, A. (2013). Intentional retrieval suppression can conceal guilty knowledge in ERP memory detection tests. *Biological Psychology*, 94(1), 1-11.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2013.04.012

- Bergström, Z. M., de Fockert, J. W., & Richardson-Klavehn, A. (2009). ERP and behavioural evidence for direct suppression of unwanted memories. *NeuroImage*, 48(4), 726-737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.051</u>
- Birn, R. M., Cox, R. W., & Bandettini, P. A. (2002). Detection versus estimation in event-related fMRI: choosing the optimal stimulus timing. *Neuroimage*, 15(1), 252-264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2001.0964</u>
- Butler, A. J., & James, K. H. (2010). The neural correlates of attempting to suppress negative versus neutral memories. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 10*(2), 182-194. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/CABN.10.2.182</u>

- Bulevich, J. B., Roediger, H. L., Balota, D. A., & Butler, A. C. (2006). Failures to find suppression of episodic memories in the think/no-think paradigm. *Memory & cognition*, 34(8), 1569-1577. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03195920</u>
- Castiglione, A., Wagner, J., Anderson, M., & Aron, A. R. (2019). Preventing a thought from coming to mind elicits increased right frontal beta just as stopping action does. *Cerebral Cortex*, 29(5), 2160-2172. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhz017
- Catarino, A., Küpper, C. S., Werner-Seidler, A., Dalgleish, T., & Anderson, M. C. (2015).
   Failing to forget: Inhibitory-control deficits compromise memory suppression in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychological Science*, *26*(5), 604-616.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0956797615569889">https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0956797615569889</a>
- Ciaramelli, E., Grady, C. L., & Moscovitch, M. (2008). Top-down and bottom-up attention to memory: a hypothesis (AtoM) on the role of the posterior parietal cortex in memory retrieval. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(7), 1828-1851.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.03.022

- Ciaramelli, E., & Moscovitch, M. (2020). The space for memory in posterior parietal cortex: Reanalyses of bottom-up attention data. *Neuropsychologia*, 146, 107551. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2020.107551</u>
- Chen, G., Saad, Z. S., Nath, A. R., Beauchamp, M. S., & Cox, R. W. (2012). FMRI group analysis combining effect estimates and their variances. *Neuroimage*, 60(1), 747-765. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.12.060</u>

- Cohen, N. J., Ryan, J., Hunt, C., Romine, L., Wszalek, T., & Nash, C. (1999). Hippocampal system and declarative (relational) memory: summarizing the data from functional neuroimaging studies. *Hippocampus*, 9(1), 83-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-1063(1999)9:1<83::AID-HIPO9>3.0.CO;2-7</u>
- Cohen, N. J., & Eichenbaum, H. B. (1993). *Memory, amnesia, and hippocampal function*. Cambridge: MIT Press.

Cox, R. W. (1996). AFNI: Software for analysis and visualization of functional magnetic resonance neuroimages. *Computers and Biomedical Research*, 29(3), 162-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/cbmr.1996.0014</u>

- Davachi, L. (2006). Item, context and relational episodic encoding in humans. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *16*(6), 693-700. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2006.10.012</u>
- Davachi, L., Mitchell, J. P., & Wagner, A. D. (2003). Multiple routes to memory: distinct medial temporal lobe processes build item and source memories. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(4), 2157-2162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0337195100</u>
- Depue, B. E., Curran, T., & Banich, M. T. (2007). Prefrontal regions orchestrate suppression of emotional memories via a two-phase process. *Science*, 317(5835), 215-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1139560</u>
- Detre, G. J., Natarajan, A., Gershman, S. J., & Norman, K. A. (2013). Moderate levels of activation lead to forgetting in the think/no-think paradigm. *Neuropsychologia*, 51(12), 2371-2388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2013.02.017</u>

- Dimsdale-Zucker, H. R., & Ranganath, C. (2018). Representational similarity analyses: A practical guide for functional MRI applications. In D. Manahan-Vaughan (Ed.) *Handbook of in Vivo Neural Plasticity Techniques* (pp. 509-525). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812028-6.00027-6</u>
- Dimsdale-Zucker, H. R., Ritchey, M., Ekstrom, A. D., Yonelinas, A. P., & Ranganath, C. (2018).
   CA1 and CA3 differentially support spontaneous retrieval of episodic contexts within human hippocampal subfields. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 294-302.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02752-1">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02752-1</a>
- Fairhall, S. L., Anzellotti, S., Ubaldi, S., & Caramazza, A. (2014). Person-and place-selective neural substrates for entity-specific semantic access. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(7), 1687-1696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht039</u>
- Fawcett, J. M., Benoit, R. G., Gagnepain, P., Salman, A., Bartholdy, S., Bradley, C., Chan, D. K. Y., Roche, A., Brewin, C. R., Anderson, M. C. (2015). The origins of repetitive thought in rumination: Separating cognitive style from deficits in inhibitory control over memory. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 47, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2014.10.009</u>
- Fawcett, J. M., & Taylor, T. L. (2010). Directed forgetting shares mechanisms with attentional withdrawal but not with stop-signal inhibition. *Memory & Cognition*, 38(6), 797-808. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/MC.38.6.797</u>
- Fischl, B., Salat, D. H., Busa, E., Albert, M., Dieterich, M., Haselgrove, C., van der Kouwe, A., Killiany, R., Kennedy, D., Klaveness, S., Montillo, A., Makris, N., Rosen, B. & Dale, A.

M. (2002). Whole brain segmentation: Automated labeling of neuroanatomical structures in the human brain. *Neuron, 33*(3), 341-355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-</u> 6273(02)00569-X

- Franko, E., Insausti, A. M., Artacho-Pérula, E., Insausti, R., & Chavoix, C. (2014). Identification of the human medial temporal lobe regions on magnetic resonance images. *Human Brain Mapping*, 35(1), 248-256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22170</u>
- Friedman, D., & Johnson Jr, R. (2000). Event-related potential (ERP) studies of memory encoding and retrieval: A selective review. *Microscopy research and technique*, 51(1), 6-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0029(20001001)51:1%3C6::AID-JEMT2%3E3.0.CO;2-</u> <u>R</u>
- Friston, K. J., Holmes, A. P., Poline, J. B., Grasby, P. J., Williams, S. C. R., Frackowiak, R. S., & Turner, R. (1995). Analysis of fMRI time-series revisited. *Neuroimage*, 2(1), 45-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1995.1023</u>
- Gagnepain, P., Henson, R. N., & Anderson, M. C. (2014). Suppressing unwanted memories reduces their unconscious influence via targeted cortical inhibition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(13), E1310-E1319. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1311468111

Giovanello, K. S., Schnyer, D. M., & Verfaellie, M. (2004). A critical role for the anterior hippocampus in relational memory: evidence from an fMRI study comparing associative and item recognition. *Hippocampus*, 14(1), 5-8. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.10182

- Giovanello, K. S., Schnyer, D., & Verfaellie, M. (2009). Distinct hippocampal regions make unique contributions to relational memory. *Hippocampus*, 19(2), 111-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20491</u>
- Göbel, K., & Niessen, C. (2021). Thought control in daily working life: How the ability to stop thoughts protects self-esteem. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3830</u>
- Grant, D. M., Mills, A. C., Judah, M. R., & White, E. J. (2019). State and trait effects of rumination on inhibitory processes in memory. *Current Psychology*, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-019-00432-5</u>
- Hannula, D. E. (2018). Attention and long-term memory: Bidirectional interactions and their effects on behavior. *Psychology of Learning and Motivation*, 69, 285-323. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.plm.2018.09.004
- Hannula, D. E., Althoff, R. R., Warren, D. E., Riggs, L., Cohen, N. J., & Ryan, J. D. (2010).
  Worth a glance: Using eye movements to investigate the cognitive neuroscience of memory. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *4*, 1-16.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2010.00166
- Hannula, D. E., Baym, C. L., Warren, D. E., & Cohen, N. J. (2012). The eyes know: Eye movements as a veridical index of memory. *Psychological Science*, 23(3), 278-287. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0956797611429799

- Hannula, D. E., Libby, L. A., Yonelinas, A. P., & Ranganath, C. (2013). Medial temporal lobe contributions to cued retrieval of items and contexts. *Neuropsychologia*, 51(12), 2322-2332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2013.02.011</u>
- Hannula, D. E., & Ranganath, C. (2009). The eyes have it: Hippocampal activity predicts expression of memory in eye movements. *Neuron*, 63(5), 592-599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.08.025
- Hannula, D. E., Ranganath, C., Ramsay, I. S., Solomon, M., Yoon, J., Niendam, T. A., Carter, C. S., Ragland, J. D. (2010). Use of eye movement monitoring to examine item and relational memory in schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 68(7), 610-616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.06.001
- Hannula, D. E., Ryan, J. D., Tranel, D., & Cohen, N. J. (2007). Rapid onset relational memory effects are evident in eye movement behavior, but not in hippocampal amnesia. *Journal* of Cognitive Neuroscience, 19(10), 1690-1705.

https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2007.19.10.1690

- Hanslmayr, S., Leipold, P., & Bäuml, K. (2010). Anticipation boosts forgetting of voluntarily suppressed memories. *Memory*, 18(3), 252-257. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658210903476548
- Hanslmayr, S., Leipold, P., Pastötter, B., & Bäuml, K. (2009). Anticipatory signatures of voluntary memory suppression. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(9), 2742-2747.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4703-08.2009">https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4703-08.2009</a>

Haxby, J. V. (2012). Multivariate pattern analysis of fMRI: the early beginnings. *Neuroimage*, 62(2), 852-855. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.03.016

- Hertel, P. T., & Calcaterra, G. (2005). Intentional forgetting benefits from thought substitution. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 12(3), 484-489. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193792
- Hertel, P. T., & Gerstle, M. (2003). Depressive deficits in forgetting. *Psychological Science*, *14*(6), 573-578. https://doi.org/10.1046%2Fj.0956-7976.2003.psci 1467.x
- Hertel, P., & McDaniel, L. (2010). The suppressive power of positive thinking: Aiding suppression-induced forgetting in repressive coping. *Cognition and Emotion*, 24(7), 1239-1249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930903172377</u>
- Hockley, W. E., Ahmad, F. N., & Nicholson, R. (2016). Intentional and incidental encoding of item and associative information in the directed forgetting procedure. *Memory & cognition*, 44(2), 220-228. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13421-015-0557-8
- Hotta, C., & Kawaguchi, J. (2009). Self-initiated use of thought substitution can lead to long term forgetting. *Psychologia*, 52(1), 41-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.2117/psysoc.2009.41</u>
- Joormann, J., Hertel, P. T., LeMoult, J., & Gotlib, I. H. (2009). Training forgetting of negative material in depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *118*(1), 34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013794</u>

- Kiefer, M., Marzinzik, F., Weisbrod, M., Scherg, M., & Spitzer, M. (1998). The time course of brain activations during response inhibition: Evidence from event-related potentials in a go/no go task. *Neuroreport*, 9(4), 765-770.
- Konkel, A., & Cohen, N. J. (2009). Relational memory and the hippocampus: Representations and methods. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 3, 23. https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.01.023.2009
- Konkel, A., Warren, D. E., Duff, M. C., Tranel, D., & Cohen, N. J. (2008). Hippocampal amnesia impairs all manner of relational memory. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 2, 15. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.09.015.2008</u>
- Kriegeskorte, N., Mur, M., & Bandettini, P. A. (2008). Representational similarity analysisconnecting the branches of systems neuroscience. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 2*, 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.06.004.2008</u>
- Kuhl, B. A., & Chun, M. M. (2014). Successful remembering elicits event-specific activity patterns in lateral parietal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(23), 8051-8060. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4328-13.2014</u>
- Kuhl, B. A., Kahn, I., Dudukovic, N. M., & Wagner, A. D. (2008). Overcoming suppression in order to remember: contributions from anterior cingulate and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience*, 8(2), 211-221.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.3758/CABN.8.2.211">https://doi.org/10.3758/CABN.8.2.211</a>

- Kumaran, D., & Wagner, A. D. (2009). It's in my eyes, but it doesn't look that way to me. *Neuron*, 63(5), 561-563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.08.027</u>
- Lee, A. C., Scahill, V. L., & Graham, K. S. (2008). Activating the medial temporal lobe during oddity judgment for faces and scenes. *Cerebral Cortex*, 18(3), 683-696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhm104</u>
- Levy, B. J., & Anderson, M. C. (2008). Individual differences in the suppression of unwanted memories: The executive deficit hypothesis. *Acta Psychologica*, 127(3), 623-635. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2007.12.004</u>
- Levy, B. J., & Anderson, M. C. (2012). Purging of memories from conscious awareness tracked in the human brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(47), 16785-16794. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2640-12.2012</u>
- Levy, B. J., & Wagner, A. D. (2013). Measuring memory reactivation with functional MRI: Implications for psychological theory. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(1), 72-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1745691612469031</u>
- Lewis-Peacock, J. A., & Norman, K. A. (2014). Competition between items in working memory leads to forgetting. *Nature Communications*, 5(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6768</u>
- Liang, J. C., & Preston, A. R. (2017). Medial temporal lobe reinstatement of content-specific details predicts source memory. *Cortex*, 91, 67-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2016.09.011</u>

- Libby, L. A., Hannula, D. E., & Ranganath, C. (2014). Medial temporal lobe coding of item and spatial information during relational binding in working memory. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(43), 14233-14242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0655-14.2014</u>
- Liddle, P. F., Kiehl, K. A., & Smith, A. M. (2001). Event-related fMRI study of response inhibition. *Human Brain Mapping*, *12*(2), 100-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-</u> <u>0193(200102)12:2%3C100::AID-HBM1007%3E3.0.CO;2-6</u>

Lingnau, A., & Vorberg, D. (2005). The time course of response inhibition in masked priming. *Perception & Psychophysics*, 67(3), 545-557. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193330</u>

- Litman, L., Awipi, T., & Davachi, L. (2009). Category-specificity in the human medial temporal lobe cortex. *Hippocampus*, *19*(3), 308-319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20515</u>
- Liu, T. T. (2012). The development of event-related fMRI designs. *Neuroimage*, 62(2), 1157-1162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.10.008</u>
- Mack, M. L., & Preston, A. R. (2016). Decisions about the past are guided by reinstatement of specific memories in the hippocampus and perirhinal cortex. *NeuroImage*, 127, 144-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.12.015</u>
- Mahoney, E. J., Kapur, N., Osmon, D. C., & Hannula, D. E. (2018). Eye tracking as a tool for the detection of simulated memory impairment. *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, 7(3), 441-453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmac.2018.05.004</u>

- Maxcey, A. M., Dezso, B., Megla, E., & Schneider, A. (2019). Unintentional forgetting is beyond cognitive control. *Cognitive Research: Principles and Implications*, 4(1), 25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41235-019-0180-5</u>
- McClelland, J. L., McNaughton, B. L., & O'Reilly, R. C. (1995). Why there are complementary learning systems in the hippocampus and neocortex: Insights from the successes and failures of connectionist models of learning and memory. *Psychological Review*, 102(3), 419-466. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.102.3.419</u>
- Mecklinger, A., & Jäger, T. (2009). Episodic memory storage and retrieval: Insights from electrophysiological measures. *Neuroimaging and psychological theories of human memory*, 357, 382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199217298.003.0020</u>
- Meister, M. L., & Buffalo, E. A. (2016). Getting directions from the hippocampus: The neural connection between looking and memory. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 134, 135-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2015.12.004</u>
- Menon, V., Adleman, N. E., White, C. D., Glover, G. H., & Reiss, A. L. (2001). Error-related brain activation during a go/NoGo response inhibition task. *Human Brain Mapping*, *12*(3), 131-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0193(200103)12:3%3C131::AID-HBM1010%3E3.0.CO;2-C</u>
- Meyer, A. K., & Benoit, R. G. (2021). Suppression weakens unwanted memories via a sustained reduction of neural reactivation. *bioRxiv*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.01.16.42681</u>
- Mumford, J. A., Davis, T., & Poldrack, R. A. (2014). The impact of study design on pattern estimation for single-trial multivariate pattern analysis. *Neuroimage*, 103, 130-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.09.026</u>
- Murayama, K., Miyatsu, T., Buchli, D., & Storm, B. C. (2014). Forgetting as a consequence of retrieval: a meta-analytic review of retrieval-induced forgetting. *Psychological bulletin*, 140(5), 1383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037505</u>
- Murray, B. D., Muscatell, K. A., & Kensinger, E. A. (2011). Effects of emotion and age on performance during a think/no-think memory task. *Psychology and Aging*, 26(4), 940-955. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037%2Fa0023214</u>
- Nee, D. E., & Jonides, J. (2009). Common and distinct neural correlates of perceptual and memorial selection. *NeuroImage*, 45(3), 963-975. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.01.005</u>
- Nickel, A. E., Henke, K., & Hannula, D. E. (2015). Relational memory is evident in eye movement behavior despite the use of subliminal testing methods. *PloS One, 10*(10), e0141677. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141677</u>
- Nickel, A. E., Hopkins, L. S., Minor, G. N., & Hannula, D. E. (2020). Attention capture by episodic long-term memory. *Cognition*, 201, 104312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2020.104312</u>
- Noreen, S., & MacLeod, M. D. (2013). It's all in the detail: Intentional forgetting of autobiographical memories using the autobiographical think/no-think task. *Journal of*

Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 39(2), 375. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0028888

- Norman, K. A., & O'Reilly, R. C. (2003). Modeling hippocampal and neocortical contributions to recognition memory: A complementary-learning-systems approach. *Psychological Review*, 110(4), 611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.110.4.611</u>
- Norman, K. A., Polyn, S. M., Detre, G. J., & Haxby, J. V. (2006). Beyond mind-reading: Multivoxel pattern analysis of fMRI data. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 10(9), 424-430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2006.07.005</u>
- Norman, K. A., Newman, E. L., & Detre, G. (2007). A neural network model of retrievalinduced forgetting. *Psychological review*, 114(4), 887-953. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 295X.114.4.887
- Newman, E. L., & Norman, K. A. (2010). Moderate excitation leads to weakening of perceptual representations. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20(11), 2760-2770. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhq021</u>
- Olsen, R. K., Moses, S. N., Riggs, L., & Ryan, J. D. (2012). The hippocampus supports multiple cognitive processes through relational binding and comparison. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6, 146. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00146</u>
- Pathman, T., & Ghetti, S. (2016). More to it than Meets the Eye: How Eye Movements Can Elucidate the Development of Episodic Memory. *Memory*, 24(6), 721-736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09658211.2016.1155870</u>

- Paz-Alonso, P. M., Bunge, S. A., Anderson, M. C., & Ghetti, S. (2013). Strength of coupling within a mnemonic control network differentiates those who can and cannot suppress memory retrieval. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(11), 5017-5026. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3459-12.2013
- Polyn, S. M., Natu, V. S., Cohen, J. D., & Norman, K. A. (2005). Category-specific cortical activity precedes retrieval during memory search. *Science*, *310*(5756), 1963-1966. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1117645</u>
- Prince, S. E., Daselaar, S. M., & Cabeza, R. (2005). Neural correlates of relational memory: Successful encoding and retrieval of semantic and perceptual associations. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(5), 1203-1210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2540-04.2005</u>
- Rae, C. L., Hughes, L. E., Weaver, C., Anderson, M. C., & Rowe, J. B. (2014). Selection and stopping in voluntary action: a meta-analysis and combined fMRI study. *Neuroimage*, *86*, 381-391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.10.012</u>
- Racsmány, M., Conway, M. A., Keresztes, A., & Krajcsi, A. (2012). Inhibition and interference in the think/no-think task. *Memory & Cognition*, 40(2), 168-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13421-011-0144-6</u>
- Ranganath, C. (2010). A unified framework for the functional organization of the medial temporal lobes and the phenomenology of episodic memory. *Hippocampus*, 20(11), 1263-1290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20852</u>

- Ranganath, C., & Ritchey, M. (2012). Two cortical systems for memory-guided behaviour. *Nature reviews neuroscience, 13*(10), 713-726. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3338</u>
- Ritvo, V. J., Turk-Browne, N. B., & Norman, K. A. (2019). Nonmonotonic plasticity: how memory retrieval drives learning. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 23(9), 726-742. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2019.06.007</u>
- Robin, J., Rai, Y., Valli, M., & Olsen, R. K. (2019). Category specificity in the medial temporal lobe: A systematic review. *Hippocampus*, 29(4), 313-339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.23024</u>
- Rogers, C. (2021). Memory Suppression: The Importance of Baseline Learning for the Think/No-Think Task. [Undergraduate Honors Thesis, College of William & Mary] Scholar Works.
- Ryan, J. D., Althoff, R. R., Whitlow, S., & Cohen, N. J. (2000). Amnesia is a deficit in relational memory. *Psychological Science*, 11(6), 454-461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111%2F1467-</u> <u>9280.00288</u>
- Ryan, J. D., Hannula, D. E., & Cohen, N. J. (2007). The obligatory effects of memory on eye movements. *Memory*, 15(5), 508-525. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09658210701391022</u>
- Ryan, J. D., & Villate, C. (2009). Building visual representations: The binding of relative spatial relations across time. *Visual Cognition*, 17(1-2), 254-272. https://doi.org/10.1080/13506280802336362

- Sahakyan, L., & Foster, N. L. (2016). The need for metaforgetting: Insights from directed forgetting. In J. Dunlosky, S. Tauber (Eds.) *The Oxford handbook of metamemory* (pp. 341-355). Oxford University Press, New York, NY.
- Schlagenhauf, F., Heinz, A. & Voss, M. (2021) Current Psychiatric Perspectives on Intrusive Thinking. In Kalivas, P. W., & Paulus, M. P. (Eds.). *Intrusive Thinking: From Molecules to Free Will*. Strungmann Forum Reports.
- Simmonds, D. J., Pekar, J. J., & Mostofsky, S. H. (2008). Meta-analysis of go/no-go tasks demonstrating that fMRI activation associated with response inhibition is taskdependent. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(1), 224-232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.07.015
- Spitzer, B. (2014). Finding retrieval-induced forgetting in recognition tests: a case for baseline memory strength. *Frontiers in psychology*, 5, 1102. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01102
- Spitzer, B., & Bäuml, K. H. (2007). Retrieval-induced forgetting in item recognition: evidence for a reduction in general memory strength. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 33(5), 863-875. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.33.5.863</u>
- Staresina, B. P., Henson, R. N., Kriegeskorte, N., & Alink, A. (2012). Episodic reinstatement in the medial temporal lobe. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(50), 18150-18156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4156-12.2012</u>

- Stramaccia, D., Rischer, K. M., Fawcett, J. M., & Benoit, R. G. (2020). Memory suppression and its deficiency in psychological disorders: A focused meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General.* Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000971</u>
- Sullivan Giovanello, K., Schnyer, D. M., & Verfaellie, M. (2004). A critical role for the anterior hippocampus in relational memory: Evidence from an fMRI study comparing associative and item recognition. *Hippocampus*, 14(1), 5-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.10182</u>
- Thakral, P. P., Wang, T. H., & Rugg, M. D. (2015). Cortical reinstatement and the confidence and accuracy of source memory. *Neuroimage*, 109, 118-129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.01.003</u>
- Tompary, A., Duncan, K., & Davachi, L. (2016). High-resolution investigation of memoryspecific reinstatement in the hippocampus and perirhinal cortex. *Hippocampus*, 26(8), 995-1007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22582</u>
- Tulving, E. (2002). Episodic memory: From mind to brain. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 53(1),
  1-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135114</u>
- Vincent, J. L., Snyder, A. Z., Fox, M. D., Shannon, B. J., Andrews, J. R., Raichle, M. E., & Buckner, R. L. (2006). Coherent spontaneous activity identifies a hippocampal-parietal memory network. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 96(6), 3517-3531. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00048.2006

- Waldhauser, G. T., Lindgren, M., & Johansson, M. (2012). Intentional suppression can lead to a reduction of memory strength: Behavioral and electrophysiological findings. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 3, 401. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00401</u>
- Wang, Y., Cao, Z., Zhu, Z., Cai, H., & Wu, Y. (2015). Cue-independent forgetting by intentional suppression–Evidence for inhibition as the mechanism of intentional forgetting. *Cognition*, 143, 31-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2015.05.025</u>
- Wang, T. H., Placek, K., & Lewis-Peacock, J. A. (2019). More is less: increased processing of unwanted memories facilitates forgetting. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 39(18), 3551-3560. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2033-18.2019</u>
- Whitlock, J., Lo, Y. P., Chiu, Y. C., & Sahakyan, L. (2020). Eye movement analyses of strong and weak memories and goal-driven forgetting. *Cognition*, 204, 104391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2020.104391</u>
- Wilding, E. L., & Rugg, M. D. (1996). An event-related potential study of recognition memory with and without retrieval of source. *Brain*, 119(3), 889-905. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/119.3.889</u>
- Williams, L. E., Must, A., Avery, S., Woolard, A., Woodward, N. D., Cohen, N. J., & Heckers, S. (2010). Eye-movement behavior reveals relational memory impairment in schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 68(7), 617-624.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.035

- Wimber, M., Alink, A., Charest, I., Kriegeskorte, N., & Anderson, M. C. (2015). Retrieval induces adaptive forgetting of competing memories via cortical pattern suppression. *Nature Neuroscience*, 18(4), 582-589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3973</u>
- Wimber, M., Bäuml, K. H., Bergström, Z., Markopoulos, G., Heinze, H. J., & Richardson-Klavehn, A. (2008). Neural markers of inhibition in human memory retrieval. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(50), 13419-13427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1916-08.2008</u>
- Wing, E. A., Ritchey, M., & Cabeza, R. (2015). Reinstatement of individual past events revealed by the similarity of distributed activation patterns during encoding and retrieval. *Journal* of Cognitive Neuroscience, 27(4), 679-691. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn\_a\_00740</u>
- Wylie, G. R., Foxe, J. J., & Taylor, T. L. (2008). Forgetting as an active process: An fMRI investigation of item-method–directed forgetting. *Cerebral Cortex*, 18(3), 670-682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhm101</u>
- Xue, G. (2018). The neural representations underlying human episodic memory. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 22(6), 544-561. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2018.03.004</u>
- Zhang, R., Geng, X., & Lee, T. M. (2017). Large-scale functional neural network correlates of response inhibition: an fMRI meta-analysis. *Brain Structure and Function*, 222(9), 3973-3990. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-017-1443-x</u>
- Zhang, D., Xie, H., Liu, Y., & Luo, Y. (2016). Neural correlates underlying impaired memory facilitation and suppression of negative material in depression. *Scientific Reports, 6*, 37556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep37556</u>

Zhao, Y., Chanales, A. J., & Kuhl, B. A. (2021). Adaptive memory distortions are predicted by feature representations in parietal cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 41(13), 3014-3024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2875-20.2021</u>

## Appendix

# Post-experimental Questionnaire

Please answer the following questions to indicate the extent to which you utilized each strategy when attempting to *suppress* items:

After the scene was presented I:

1. Made sure I still knew the associated face/tool first, and then tried to not think of this associated face/tool.

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

2. Tried not to think of the associated face/tool, but then after the trial was over, I made sure I still remembered the associated face/tool.

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

 Kept myself from thinking about the associated face/tool by keeping my mind completely blank.

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

Please answer the following questions to indicate the extent to which you utilized each strategy when attempting to *substitute* items:

After the scene was presented I:

1. Made sure I still knew the associated face/tool first, and then tried to call to mind a substitute tool/face.

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

2. Tried not to think of the associated face/tool, and immediately called to mind a substitute tool/face.

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

3. Always used the same face/tool for substitution (for example -- always used the hammer when trying to substitute for a face; always used *Obama* when trying to substitute for a tool).

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

4. Made pairs between objects that I would use for substitution (for example -- always use the hammer when trying to substitute for Obama; always use Rupert Grint when trying to substitute for the scissors).

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

Please answer the following questions to indicate the extent to which you utilized each strategy when attempting to *retrieve* items:

After the scene was presented I:

1. Made sure I still knew the associated face/tool first, and then kept it in mind until the search display was presented.

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

2. Continued to try to retrieve the associate until the search display was presented if it did not immediately come to mind.

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

3. Called the associated face/tool to mind, but then thought about something else until the search display was presented.

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

Please answer the following questions to indicate the extent to which you performed the following behaviors *when the search display was presented*:

After the search display was presented I:

1. Deliberately looked for (moved my eyes to) the associated face/tool in the search display on every trial (whether the instructions were to *retrieve, suppress, or substitute*).

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

2. Deliberately avoided looking for (moving my eyes to) the associated face/tool in the search display regardless of trial type (whether instructions were to *retrieve, suppress, or substitute*).

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

3. Deliberately looked for (moved my eyes to) the face/tool in the search display that I had used for substitution in the *Substitute* trials.

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

4. Simply looked at the objects, without regard for whether they were associates, substitutes, etc. until the search target (the lone circle) was revealed.

0	1	2	3	4
Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Frequently	Very frequently

If you used a strategy during search that is not described above, please explain in the space provided below:

# **Curriculum Vitae**

## **EDUCATION**

#### Ph.D. Experimental Psychology (Neuroscience)

University of Wisconsin Milwaukee, USA, 2015 – Present (Projected End date: June 2021)

#### **M.Sc. Cognitive Neuroscience** University of York, UK, 2013 – 2014

#### **B.A.** Psychology

University of Pune, India, 2010 – 2013

# **RESEARCH PROJECTS**

#### Neural Mechanisms of Long-term Memory Regulation

- Examine how memory suppression is accomplished by cognitive control mechanisms, and the effect of suppression on hippocampal reinstatement of retrieved memories
- Developed novel experimental paradigm to test memory regulation using fMRI and eye-tracking
- Coded task using proprietary eye-tracking software (SR Research)
- Currently in the process of collecting concurrent fMRI and eye-tracking data, analysing behavioral and eye-tracking data using R, and fMRI data using AFNI to measure neural mechanisms and consequences of memory regulation

#### Predicting Gist-Based False Memory Using Neural Pattern Similarity

- Investigate whether neural pattern similarity during encoding is predictive of performance on the DRM false memory task
- Compared the effect of multiple methods of modeling BOLD activity using AFNI on pattern similarity
- Conducted hippocampal hand-segmentations using ITK-SNAP
- Implementing ROI-based and searchlight Representational Similarity Analysis (RSA) analyses using R and pyMVPA to predict response accuracy

## Contributions of Temporal Regularity to Long-term Memory

- Test whether temporal predictability during encoding improves learning
- Created novel stimulus set and conducted norming study
- Coded experiment in Presentation and collected behavioral data on three experiments
- Developed data analysis scripts in R to analyse behavioral and eye-tracking data
- Manuscript from the project is published in Frontiers in Psychology

## Neural Topographic Maps as a Universal Substrate of Attention

- Test whether auditory attention is deployed through a map-like organisation in the parietal lobe
- Developed novel experimental paradigm to measure frequency-selective auditory attention using a sparse acquisition protocol developed for the 7T fMRI scanner in collaboration with researchers at the Medical College of Wisconsin
- Developed auditory stimuli and built experiment in Matlab using Psychtoolbox
- Collected fMRI data at the 7T scanner
- Processed high-resolution functional MRI data using custom Matlab and Python code

## Effects of Music Training on Auditory Object Perception

- Examine how level of music training alters the processing of auditory information
- Used k-means clustering to develop a novel method of characterising level of music training
- Analysed behavioural responses using Principal Components Analyses to measure auditory object perception
- One manuscript from this project is in preparation with a targeted submission date of July 2021

#### Data Processing Pipeline for fMRI Data

- Developed scripts to simplify fMRI preprocessing in AFNI and Freesurfer in a BIDS-compliant manner
- Built tcsh module to streamline data reconstruction and pre-processing to be used across projects and labs
- Maintaining a (currently private) GitHub repository for this module

## **PUBLICATIONS**

- Kulkarni, M. & Hannula, D. E. (2021). Temporal Regularity May Not Improve Memory for Item-Specific Detail. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.623402</u>
- Kulkarni, M., Potkonjak, K., Randall, R. & Greenberg, A. S. (in preparation). Formal music education alters perceived musicality of pitch sequences.

#### POSTERS

- Kulkarni, M., Nickel, A. E., Hannula, D. E. (2021, March). Cognitive and Neural Correlates of Episodic Memory Regulation. Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Cognitive Neuroscience Society
- Kulkarni, M., Hannula, D. E. (2020, November). Eye Movements are Sensitive to Episodic Memory Regulation. Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Psychonomic Society.
- Kulkarni, M., Hannula, D. E. (2020, October). Temporal Regularity Does Not Improve Memory for Item-Specific Detail. Poster presented at the Expectation, Perception and Cognition Meeting.
- Kulkarni, M., Hannula, D. E. (2019, November). Contributions of Temporal Expectation to Item-Specific Memory. Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Psychonomic Society, Montreal, QC, Canada.
- Mahoney, E. J., **Kulkarni, M.**, Hannula, D. E. (2018, April). Behavioural and Neural Markers of Memory Malingering. Poster presented at the annual Neuroscience Symposium at the University of Wisconsin Milwaukee, Milwaukee, WI.
- Kulkarni, M., Huddleston, W. E., DeYoe, E. A., Greenberg, A. S. (2017, November). Topographic maps in attention control regions mediate frequency-based auditory attention. Poster presented at the annual meeting of Object Perception, Attention and Memory, Vancouver, BC, Canada
- Kulkarni, M., Potkonjak, K., Randall, R. & Greenberg, A. S. (2015, November). Formal music education alters perceived musicality of pitch sequences. Poster presented at the annual Auditory Perception, Cognition and Action Meeting, Chicago, IL
- Kulkarni, M., Garcia, R., Biddles, H., Giannakopoulou, E., Hymers, M., Millman, R. E. (2014, August). Functional Organisation of Familiar Melody Recognition. Poster presented at the annual Research Symposium at the University of York, UK.

# TALKS

- Kulkarni, M., Hannula, D. E. (2018, April). Contributions of Temporal Expectation to Item-Specific Memory. Talk presented at the annual research symposium of the Association of Graduate Students in Psychology at the University of Wisconsin Milwaukee, Milwaukee, WI.
- Kulkarni, M., Huddleston, W. E., DeYoe, E. A. & Greenberg, A. S. (2017, October). Attendotonotopy: Frequency-based Priority Maps for Auditory Attention. Talk presented at the Neuroscience Seminar at the University of Wisconsin Milwaukee, Milwaukee, WI.
- Kulkarni, M., Potkonjak, K., Randall, R. & Greenberg, A. S. (2016, November). Music Expertise Alters the Perception of Auditory Objects. Talk presented at the annual Auditory Perception, Cognition and Action Meeting, Boston, MA.
- Kulkarni, M. (2013, January). Jean-Jacques Rousseau: Implications of the General Will. Talk presented at the annual Philosophy Conference of S.P. College, Pune, India.
- Kulkarni, M. (2012, January). Jainism: Relationship between Spirituality and Morality. Paper presented at the annual Philosophy Conference of S.P. College, Pune, India.

# **TEACHING EXPERIENCE**

- Research Methods in Psychology: TA Co-ordinator Instructors: Dr. Marcellus Merritt, Dr. Sue Lima
- Research Methods in Psychology: Teaching Assistant Instructors: Dr. Marcellus Merritt, Dr. Sue Lima, Dr. Peter Lenz
- **Physiological Psychology:** Teaching Assistant Instructor: Dr. Ira Driscoll

# **AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS**

- **Pilot Grant:** Center for Imaging Research, Medical College of Wisconsin November, 2019
- Summer Research Fellowship: University of Wisconsin Milwaukee Summer, 2017
- First Position: Talk presented at conference in S.P. College, Pune January, 2012

# **DEPARTMENT SERVICE**

## Secretary of Cognition, Learning, Attention and Memory (CLAM) Society

2017 – Present

- Co-wrote grants that received over \$10,000 from UWM to support graduate student training, and conference travel
- Collaborated with graduate students to organize workshops on fMRI data analysis for UWM, Marquette University, and Medical College of Wisconsin students
- Hosted Dr. Bob Cox, Dr. Paul Taylor and Rick Reynolds for AFNI bootcamp at UWM

## **Psychology Day**

2016 - Present

- Presented research at Department of Psychology undergraduate recruitment events
- Conducted research demonstrations at UWM booths at the Wisconsin State Fair

# Graduate Student Ambassador for Department of Psychology, University of York

2013 - 2014

- Represented graduate student cohort at the department and university administrative meetings
- Organised end-of-the-year poster session for Masters students to showcase research

## **Undergraduate Mentoring**

• Mentored several undergraduate research assistants on collecting and analysing behavioral and eye-tracking data

# **COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT**

## **Invited Community Talks**

- Kulkarni, M., Blujus, J.K. (2019, July). It's all in the Brain: Neuroscience of Vision and Hearing. Talk given at Coffeeshop Astrophysics Meeting, Milwaukee, WI
- Kulkarni, M. (2018, April). Memory and the Brain. Talk given at BrainExpo 2018, Milwaukee, WI
- Kulkarni, M., Blujus, J.K., Fernandino, L. (2017, June). How are memories stored in the brain? Talk given at Coffeeshop Astrophysics Meeting, Milwaukee, WI

## Volunteer at BrainExpo

2018 - Present

• Organized events aimed at educating general public about brain health and disease through interactive exhibits

• Conducted brain dissection demonstrations for elementary school children enrolled in the Montessori Brains program

## Volunteer at Future Success Program

2018 - 2010

- Conducted workshops on data collection and analysis in Psychology for high-school students from minority backgrounds preparing for STEM undergraduate programs
- Developed and co-taught course on Python programming for high-school students interested in health sciences

# SKILLS

- Techniques: Eye-tracking, fMRI
- Programming: R, Shell-scripting, Matlab, Python, High-performance computing
- Stimulus Presentation Software: Experiment Builder, Presentation, Psychtoolbox, PsychoPy
- MRI Analysis Software: AFNI, FSL, Freesurfer, ITK-SNAP, PyMVPA
- **fMRI and Statistical Analyses:** fMRI preprocessing, Whole-brain and ROI-based univariate analyses, RSA, MV